


“Pha Yok Thong Lai Hing Hoy Chom Suan” (front cover):

The fabric is woven with gold yarn in the pattern design of fireflies in the garden, thus its name. 

The weaving process inherits the genuine Indian techniques that accentuate the delicate textures 

and the glitters of the gold and silver yarns like fireflies hovering the night.

Weaving Corporate Governance
Ancient fabrics of the Ayudhya and Rattanakosin Courts (circa 1400 -1800) 

are treasures of timeless beauty and elegance to the eyes of the world. 

Their universal value and recognition are woven by the labor of love of craftsmen 

who devote their time and energy to create splendid pieces of garments from rare and 

expensive materials such as gold and silver yarns and precious stones for eternal keeps.

This annual report features classic examples of handmade ancient fabrics 

from the Ayudhya period (1350-1767) to the Rattanakosin period (1782- present). 

They are part of the rare collections on display at the exhibition hall on the ground floor 

of Bhrammesthada Pavillion, Phra Viman Buildings, the National Museum, Bangkok, Thailand.
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The year 2005 was a testing time for Thailand. The

investing climate was clouded by a broad sequence

of unfortunate events that consequently slowed down

the country’s economic growth. What partially ignited

unfavorable effects were accumulated problems from

the previous years, including the bird flu worry and

the Tsunami aftermath. Then came other issues from

the political unrest in the southern provinces to the

global oil price hikes and the interest rate cycle.

Together all these events posed a test of strength

and stability of the Thai economy.

Still, at the end of 2005, Thailand’s GDP growth

stayed at a satisfactory level of 4.7 percent thanks to

the capital market’s role of the “Economic Pillar” that

sustained continual capital expansion for the overall

economy. On the bourse, 50 new companies were

listed on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) and

the Market for Alternative Investment (mai). The total

market capitalization through equities and corporate

debt securities grew from 240,000 million baht in 2004

to 350,000 million baht in 2005 or a 43 percent

increase. Moreover, mutual fund investments grew

significantly with 157 new funds registered with the

Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

(SEC). The industry’s total net asset value rising by

more than 280,000 million baht from 680,000 million

baht in 2004 to 960,000 million baht in 2005.

Increased globalization had material impacts on

the capital market, pushing forward concurrently three

developmental blueprints: world-standard corporate

governance (CG) compliance, infrastructure

development and international cooperation.

Another proud achievement of the Thai capital market

in 2005 was a positive CG assessment by the World

Bank, with nearly 70 percent compliance with

Thanong  Bidaya

Chairman

Message from the Chairman
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international standards. The SEC and all parties

involved then moved forward to implement concrete

action plans to enhance CG performance of market

participants. The corporate ethics was a top priority

of the government. Further CG enhancement

measures were issued to ensure progressive

development of the Thai CG and a stronger

confidence of the international investor in the

securities exchange.

In 2005, the capital market also made substantial

progress in the development of market infrastructure.

Several measures implemented earlier now yielded

fruitful results. The infrastructure of the bond market

improved markedly with better liquidity and more

information disclosure. Likewise, preparations were

made for the launch of the derivatives market so that

investors would have additional risk management

tools. Indeed, the improved infrastructures of

both markets set a stronger background for local

investments and a competitive edge against other

markets in the region.

In addition, supervisory agencies continued to

develop fair and effective rules and regulations on a

regular basis and in conformity with the international

benchmark. The signing of Memoranda of

Understanding (MOU) and Letters of Intent (LOI)

with fellow regulators of other jurisdictions officially

launched the cooperation and information sharing to

lay out groundwork for appropriate regulations and

financial instruments equal in quality to those issued

in other countries. The international linkage of capital

markets, especially among regional countries, was

another essential element of growth in the capital

market. Thailand was active under the Asian Bond

Market Initiative. In 2005, the member countries

reached an initial goal of positioning the Asian Bond

as a liquidity management tool in the regional market.

The latest development was the implementation of

the Asian Bond Fund 2 (ABF2) project for investment

in local currency-denominated bonds, which allowed

retail investors in each member country to invest in

Asian bonds directly.

The first Capital Market Development Master Plan

ended last year (2002 - 2005) with satisfactory results.

Yet, the Thai capital market was faced with obstacles

and challenges in raising long-term capital and

offering savings/investment alternatives to the

investing public. To carry on the mission of capital

market improvement, the second master plan

(2006 - 2010) will focus on six strategic approaches:

(1) institutional investor increase to enhance liquidity

balance and price stability, (2) bond market

expansion, (3) strengthening of self regulating

organizations in preparation for free trade

agreements (FTA), (4) CG improvement of listed

companies, (5) market knowledge and financial

literacy, and (6) active cooperation among regulatory

agencies to foster market development and effective

surveillance.

Such challenging tasks are ahead of us. We need all

market participants to engage in active collaboration,

brainstorming of ideas and sharing of knowledge so

that we can achieve our collective, ultimate goal of

sustainable progress and prosperity of the Thai

economy.

As we are moving on to the year 2006, the investing

public can be assured of the SEC’s firm commitment

and dedication to the Thai capital market that have

continued over the years. Finally, I wish to express

my sincere appreciation for the tremendous

efforts of the SEC management and staff and every

contributor to the prosperity of the Thai capital market

in 2005 and beyond.
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Message from the Secretary-General

The globalization of capital markets steadily leads to

an increasingly competitive environment. To cope with

this situation, Thailand has to continually develop

supervisory measures and to establish well-organized

and well-balanced market infrastructure. The Thai

capital market has to become fully prepared for global

competition and the forthcoming arrival of free trade

agreements that will affect the financial services

sector.

In 2005, the SEC made a significant progress in its

efforts to attain international standards. Several

regulatory measures were issued along with the

enhancement of the SEC’s operational efficiency.

One proactive strategy introduced during the year

was the application to the World Bank’s program

on Corporate Governance - Report on the

Observance of Standards and Codes (CG-ROSC).

The assessment was completed in September 2005

and confirmed that the Thai capital market passed in

all categories. No other feats can give as much

assurance to the global community. The favorable

CG-ROSC report reaffirmed the effectiveness of past

efforts while at the same time set a clear path for

future improvements.

On market infrastructure, substantial development

was made in many areas. The bond market was

improved to provide better liquidity and to promote

more product variety. The bond electronic trading

system was integrated into the SET. The Thai Bond

Market Association (ThaiBMA) was set up to function

as a full-scale, self-regulatory organization, taking on

major roles of information center, market examination

and pricing agency of bonds. On securitization, the

SEC expanded the scope of eligible assets to include

future receivables and allowed public offering of

Thirachai  Phuvanatnaranubala

Secretary-General
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securitized products, instead of restricting them only

to private placement as in the past.

During 2005, the SEC devoted substantial resources

to prepare for the opening of the futures exchange.

Licenses were granted to Thailand Futures Exchange

Plc. (TFEX), Thailand Clearing House Co., Ltd.

(TCH), and 26 securities firms. The official launch of

TFEX is scheduled in 2006.

The SEC continued its strict surveillance measures

on information disclosure of listed companies

throughout 2005. Orders for correction of financial

statements or special audits were imposed on several

listed firms to assure accurate and transparent reports

of their performances. A regulation was issued that

required listed companies to rotate an audit partner

at least once every five years to ensure independent

auditing. The SEC also cooperated with the

Federation of Accounting Professions (FAP) to issue

four additional guidelines for professional accounting

practice and clarification of certain accounting

standards.

On enforcement, the SEC signed a collaboration

agreement with the Department of Special

Investigation (DSI), an agency spinned off from

the Royal Thai Police in 2002 to expedite legal

proceedings against financial crime.

With regard to investor promotion, the SEC put a

special emphasis on increasing the number of

institutional investors while encouraging retail

investors to consider investing a bigger part of their

portfolios through professional asset managers. In

this regard, regulations on asset management were

amended to make it more convenient and attractive

for investors to invest in mutual funds, private

funds and provident funds. The changes included

permission for offshore investment and investment

in structured products.  In addition, the SEC initiated

the self-assessment questionnaire (SAQ) to

facilitate asset management companies in their

own evaluation of their risk management system

on a regular basis.

The SEC continued its active international roles. As

the chairman of the International Organization of

Securities Commissions Asia-Pacific Regional

Committee (IOSCO APRC), the SEC urged members

to set clear timeframes to join the IOSCO Multilateral

Memorandum of Understanding Concerning

Consultation and Cooperation and the Exchange of

Information (IOSCO MMoU) that will allow exchange

of information between jurisdictions and more

effective cross-border enforcement of securities

violation. The SEC also continued with its plan for

more regional collaboration by signing an LOI with

the Monetary Authority of Singapore (MAS) to

promote mutual regulatory recognition and bilateral

cooperation. The LOI aimed to facilitate cross-border

sales of collective investment funds.

Future demographic changes in the region indicate

that there will be substantial savings accumulated

that will be looking for good investment products.

There is a need to promote more capital movement

within the region. Countries that have excess savings

should directly fund other countries within the region

that need capital, instead of having to channel money

via other regions. The SEC has to ensure the Thai

capital market’s readiness for this role.



“Pha Krong Thong”: The sash for the queens and court ladies

This luxurious piece of cloth is woven with pure gold yarn and sometimes jewelry or metallic colored

woodborer beetles or dragon flies, creating unique golden patterns of delicate beauty.
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Senior Assistant

Secretary-General

Chalee Chantanayingyong

Corporate Finance Dept.

40 staff

Accounting Supervision Dept.

25 staff

Corporate Governance Dept.

15 staff

Senior Assistant

Secretary-General

Pravej Ongartsittigul

Investment Management

Supervision Dept.

41 staff

Broker-Dealer Supervision Dept.

43 staff

Investment Advisor Supervision

Dept.

31 staff

Research Dept.

26 staff

Corporate Affairs Dept.

22 staff

Senior Assistant

Secretary-General

Vasant Thienhom

Enforcement Dept.

47 staff

Legal Dept.

30 staff

Information Technology Dept.

31 staff

Human Resources Dept.

14 staff

Finance and

Administration Dept.

40 staff

As of December 31, 2005

Total 421 staff

Organization Structure

Corporate Review

Secretary-General

Thirachai Phuvanatnaranubala

SEC Board

Deputy Secretary-General

Prasong Vinaiphat

Audit Committee

Internal Audit Dept.

12 staff

7Annual Report 2005



8 Annual Report 2005

Members of the SEC Board

Mr. Thanong Bidaya

Mr. Thanong is the ex-officio Chairman of the Board. He has been

Minister of Finance since August 2005. He holds a B.A. in Economics

from Yokohama National University, Japan, an M.S. in Economics and

a Ph.D. in Management from Northwestern University, USA. He was

Minister of Commerce before taking office at the Ministry of Finance.

He was also the Minister of Finance in 1997.

M.R. Pridiyathorn Devakula

M.R. Pridiyathorn is an ex-officio member of the Board. He has

been Governor of the Bank of Thailand since May 2001. He holds

a Bachelor of Economics (First Class Honors) from Thammasat

University and an MBA in International Business from Wharton School,

University of Pennsylvania, USA. Prior to his current appointment,

he was Deputy Commerce Minister and President of the Export-Import

Bank of Thailand.

Mr. Suparut Kawatkul

Mr. Suparut is an ex-officio member of the Board. He is Permanent

Secretary for Finance. He graduated with a B.Sc. (Econ) from the

London School of Economics and Political Science, University of London,

UK and holds an M.Sc. (Econ), Queen Mary College, University of

London, UK. He was Director-General of the Revenue Department

before becoming Permanent Secretary for Finance.
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Mr. Karun Kittisataporn

Mr. Karun is an ex-officio member of the Board. He is Permanent

Secretary for Commerce. He holds a B.C.A. from Victoria University

of Wellington, New Zealand and an M.A. in International Economics

from Syracuse University, USA. Prior to becoming Permanent Secretary

for Commerce, he was Director-General of the Department of Insurance,

Department of Business Economics (currently Department of Trade

Negotiations) and Department of Foreign Trade, successively.

Mr. Panas Simasathien

Mr. Panas is an accounting expert member of the Board. He

graduated with a B.A. (Cum Laude) in Business Administration from

Claremont Men’s College and holds an M.S. and a Ph.D. in Accounting

from University of Illinois, USA. He served a long career in the Ministry

of Finance, being Permanent Secretary for Finance between 1982 and

1992 and Minister of Finance in 1992. He is now Chairman of the

Executive Committee of Siam Piwat Co., Ltd. and Chairman of the

Council of State Group 12.

Mr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi

Mr. Chaiyawat is a financial expert member of the Board. He was

Governor of the Bank of Thailand between 1997 and 1998 and Deputy

Minister of Finance and Acting Minister of Finance in 1996. He obtained

a B.A. from Williams College and a Ph.D. from Massachusetts Institute

of Technology, USA. He is an advisor to Deputy Prime Minister and

Minister of Commerce and Chairman of the Executive Board of Krung

Thai Bank Plc.
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Mr. Sompol Kiatphaibool

Mr. Sompol is an accounting expert member of the Board. He was

Permanent Secretary for Commerce between 1995 and 2000. He

graduated with a Bachelor of Economics (Honors) from Thammasat

University, Thailand and holds a Master of Economics from Fairleigh

Dickinson University, USA. He is an advisor to Deputy Prime Minister

and Minister of Commerce, Chairman of the Support Arts and Crafts

International Center of Thailand and Chairman of Siam City Bank Plc.

Mr. Prasit Kovilaikool

Mr. Prasit is a legal expert member of the Board. He is a board

member of the Bank of Thailand, Law Councilor of the Council of State,

Chairman of Tribunal of Public Information (Economic and Financial

Division) and President of Huachiew Chalermprakiet University, Thailand.

He was Secretary to the Minister of University Affairs, Dean of the

Faculty of Law and Vice President of Chulalongkorn University, Thailand

and a member of the Board of Police. A Barrister-at-Law, he holds an

LL.B. (2nd Class Honors) from Chulalongkorn University and an LL.M.

from Columbia University, New York, USA.

Mr. Suchart  Thada-Thamrongvech

Mr. Suchart is a financial expert member of the Board. He was an

advisor to the Minister of Commerce in 2003 and a policy advisor to the

Minister of Energy between 2003 and 2005. He graduated with a B.A.

(2nd Class Honors) in Economics from Thammasat University, Thailand,

and holds an M.Sc. and a Ph.D. in Economics from the London School

of Economics and Political Science, University of London, UK and

McMaster University, Canada, respectively. An associate professor, he

teaches at Faculty of Economics, Ramkhamhaeng University, Thailand.

He is also Eminent Advisor to the Prime Minister in the Field of

Economics, Director of Rice Policy Committee and Director of Petroleum

Committee.
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Mr. Vasant Thienhom

Mr. Vasant is a financial expert member of the Board. He is a Senior

Assistant Secretary-General of the SEC. A Barrister-at-Law, he

graduated with an LL.B. (Honors) from Chulalongkorn University,

Thailand and holds an LL.M. in International Banking Laws from Boston

University, USA.

Mr. Thirachai Phuvanatnaranubala

Mr. Thirachai is an ex-officio member and secretary of the Board.

He has been Secretary-General of the SEC since December 2003.

Prior to his current positions, he was Deputy Governor of the Bank of

Thailand. He graduated with a B.Sc. (Econ) from the London School of

Economics and Political Science, University of London, UK and is a

Fellow of Chartered Accountants of the Institute of Chartered

Accountants in England and Wales.
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Mrs. Supan Poshyananda

Director, Legal Department

Executive Officers

Mr. Vasant Thienhom

Senior Assistant Secretary-General

Mr. Pravej Ongartsittigul

Senior Assistant Secretary-General &

Acting Director, Corporate Affairs Department

Mr. Prasong Vinaiphat

Deputy Secretary-General

Mr. Chalee Chantanayingyong

Senior Assistant Secretary-General

Mr. Thirachai Phuvanatnaranubala

Secretary-General
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Mrs. Paralee Sukonthaman

Director, Broker-Dealer Supervision

Department

Mrs. Saranya Chindavanig

Director, Accounting Supervision

Department

Mrs. Duangmon Chuengsatiansup

Director, Investment Management Supervision

Department

Mr. Trakarn Nopmuang

Director, Investment Advisor Supervision

Department

Mr. Prakid Punyashthiti

Director, Corporate Finance Department

Mr. Kajornsak Outthasin

Director, Internal Audit Department
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Mr. Kumpol Sontanarat

Director, Information Technology Department

Mrs. Tipsuda Thavaramara

Director, Research Department

Mr. Saengsiri Sirisansneeyawongse

Director, Finance and Administration

Department

Mrs. Nataya Niyamanusorn

Director, Corporate Governance Department

Mrs. Duangjai Dhanasthitya

Director, Human Resources Department

Mrs. Waratchya Srimachand

Director, Enforcement Department
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This premium grade traditional tube skirt is made colorful and elegant with indigenous

silk patterns. It was a fashionable choice among court ladies and dignitaries of

the ancient eras. Each town had its own signature Pha Sin named after its place of origin.

“Pha Yok Mai” or “Pha Sin”:
The premium quality silk garment for court ladies
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Corporate Governance Statement

The SEC Board and the SEC

Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Act

B.E. 2535 (1992) (The SEC Act), the SEC Board

comprises:

• Five ex-officio members, i.e., the Minister of

Finance as Chairman, the Governor of the Bank

of Thailand, the Permanent Secretary of the

Ministry of Finance, the Permanent Secretary

of the Ministry of Commerce, and the SEC

Secretary-General

As a member and the secretary of the Board, the

SEC Secretary-General is appointed by the

Cabinet upon the recommendation of the Minister

of Finance and shall hold office for a term of four

years and may be re-appointed but not more than

two consecutive terms.

• Four to six qualified persons appointed by the

Cabinet upon the recommendation of the Minister

of Finance, among whom there shall be at least

one expert from each of the following fields: legal,

accounting and finance.

Each expert member shall hold office for a term of

six years. Upon the term expiration, new board

members will be appointed within 60 days.

Members of the Board who retire upon the

expiration of the term of office may be re-appointed

for another term.

The SEC Board has the power to appoint the audit

committee, ad hoc sub-committees to perform

specific assignments and sub-committees to consider

and advise on the issuance of rules and regulations.

The Board also has the power to appoint steering

groups to support the operation and ensure

transparency, efficiency and integrity of the SEC.

In formulating structures, composition and scopes of

responsibilities of sub-committees and steering

groups, the Board employs the checks and balances

system to prevent conflicts of interest.

Under the SEC Act, the SEC Board and

sub-committees receive remunerations as specified

by the Minister of Finance.

Policy and Implementation

Corporate Governance Policy

The SEC is established upon the enactment of the

SEC Act with key responsibilities in promoting,

developing and supervising the Thai capital market.

For greater transparency, integrity and fairness,

the SEC Board emphasizes good CG within the

SEC. In this regard, the Board appointed the Audit

Committee to support their supervision on the SEC’s

operation in line with the international CG standards.

In addition, the Internal Audit Department is assigned

to compile and review relevant guidelines and reports

and then assess and propose the results to the Audit

Committee and the Board, respectively. More details

are in the Audit Committee Statement.



Corporate Review

17Annual Report 2005

Corporate Governance Implementation

To promote good CG throughout the organization,

the SEC formulated frameworks and operational

guidelines concerning risk management and internal

control system. It is also working on a CG handbook

and administration in line with international standards

as follows:

Risk Management

The key risk management is divided into two levels:

(1) Organizational Level: Top-level management

identifies and prioritizes risks that may obstruct

the organization’s objectives in supervising and

developing the capital market. In formulating

appropriate strategic plans, internal and external

factors are thoroughly considered to prevent,

control and avoid risks and its impacts.

(2) Operational Level: Top-level management and

directors jointly assess potential risk impacts that

may obstruct the achievement of objectives,

especially, the reputation risk. Risk management

plans are also laid out and will be evaluated on a

quarterly basis.

In addition, the SEC is concerned with managing

risks incurred from irregular incidents or emergency

such as natural disasters or crises that impede staff’s

operation at the premises. All departments are

required to set up their contingency plans to reduce

impacts of such emergency and to ensure smooth

and continual running of businesses in the capital

market. The SEC reviews and rehearses the plan

regularly at least once a year.

Internal Control

The SEC is fully aware of the importance of internal

control to safeguard against risks and support

damage-free operation in every area. An internal

control system is put in place to ensure that all

functions of the SEC are equipped with preventive

measures, and free from errors, damages as well

as frauds. Its financial statements must be accurate

and reliable as well as audited by the Office of the

Auditor General of Thailand (OAG). The Internal Audit

Department is in charge of monitoring the compliance

of the SEC with established guidelines.

In addition, pursuant to the SEC Act, the OAG is the

auditor of the SEC. Consequently, the SEC is subject

to the Order of the State Audit Commission on Internal

Control B.E. 2544 (2001). Accordingly, it is required

to (1) comply with the State Audit Commission-based

standards of internal control, (2) monitor and assess

the active system and then report to the Audit

Committee and the OAG, and (3) update the internal

control system to ensure effectiveness and suitability

for the changing environment and risks.

Communication with Stakeholders

Access to news, information and operational

updates of the SEC is a stakeholder right. The SEC

has to ensure that all stakeholders can exercise

their rights and express their constructive views for

the development and supervision of the capital

market via extensive two-way communication

channels such as circulated memoranda, electronic

correspondences and public seminars. Thus, the
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SEC Staff Ethics in Brief

As the regulatory agency of the Thai capital market, the SEC is adhered to morality and

integrity in performing its duties and cultivates the values of integrity and transparency in

the SEC staff. The followings are a summary of staff ethical standards:

• Duties to oneself, colleagues, organization, the public and society: Perform duties

with integrity and fairness and position oneself properly and appropriately in the roles of

respectable regulator. For example, being untarnished by scandals, not participating in

any activities that will damage reputations of oneself and the organization, protecting

data and confidential information of the organization, and not using acquired information

on duty in taking advantage of the general public.

• Securities investment: The staff at all levels is prohibited from purchasing securities

approved for issuance and offering by the SEC and securities of organizations under the

SEC’s supervision. However, the staff is allowed to invest in securities approved for

issuance and offering by the SEC for the purpose of public saving such as bonds and

investment units, but they must report their trading to the SEC. In addition, the SEC

complies with the notification of the National Counter Corruption Commission in refusing

to accept assets or other kinds of benefits from any persons involved in the operation of

the SEC to prevent obstruction of duty performance. The violation of such rule is not

only deemed unethical but also subject to legal actions.

The SEC requires all staff to strictly follow the code of ethics. Moreover, they must attend

the ethical training course to ensure their clear understanding and compliance with the

ethical guidelines so as to earn public trust and confidence for themselves and the SEC.

SEC can clarify issues of their concerns, views and

suggestions. This effort for clear and convenient

communication aims to enhance mutual

understanding and encourage stakeholders’ active

cooperation in the SEC’s mission to achieve

sustainable growth in the capital market.

Code of Conduct and Conflicts of Interest

As a regulatory entity, the SEC realizes the

importance of stakeholders’ confidence in its integrity.

To uphold such confidence, the SEC laid out a high

standard ethical policy based on the IOSCO

Objectives and Principles for Securities Regulation.

A handbook on code of conduct and conflicts of

interest is provided for the SEC Board and the SEC

staff with emphasis on prevention of insider

information and conflicts of interest during the course

of duty performance. The staff ethics in brief is shown

below.

Complaint Handling Against the SEC Staff

To assure fairness, the SEC set up procedures for

handling complaints in case that its staff failed to carry

out their duties. The standing committee in charge

will probe into the case and report their opinions to

the SEC Board for decision-making and rulings.
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Audit Committee Statement

The Audit Committee is appointed by the SEC Board

on August 17, 2005 with responsibility to support the

Board in supervising the SEC’s operation. The key

objective is to ensure transparency and credibility in

line with international corporate governance

standards.

1. Composition and Meeting

The Audit Committee comprises three members from

the SEC Board who are not the SEC’s management

and independent from the SEC’s operation. Their

terms in office are synchronized with their board

members’ terms.

The composition is as follows:

1. M.R. Pridiyathorn Devakula Chairman

2. Mr. Sompol Kiatphaibool Member

3. Mr. Chaiyawat Wibulswasdi Member

4. Director of Internal Audit Department Secretary

Meetings of the Audit Committee are held at least

four times a year. If necessary, the committee has

the power to call for additional meetings. Apart from

the Director of Internal Audit Department who attends

the meeting as the secretary, the SEC executives,

auditors or experts in specific fields may also be

invited in relevant agendas. In 2005, the Committee

convened their meetings every month to devise plan

and closely monitor progress on the SEC’s CG

practices.

2. Duties and Responsibilities

The Audit Committee is empowered to perform the

duties as specified in the charter and as directed by

the SEC Board. Main responsibilities include

supporting the SEC Board’s supervision on the

SEC’s operation, risk management, internal control,

and financial statements preparation. The aim is to

enhance transparency and reliability of the SEC’s

operation and information disclosure.

T o     p r o m o t e     t r a n s p a r e n c y ,     e f f i c i e n c y     a n d

effectiveness of the Committee’s activities, the

SEC Board requires the Committee to prepare and

present its report in writing and also disclose the

report  in  the  SEC’s  annual  report.

3. Progress in 2005

At its initial stage of operation from the later part of

the third quarter continuing to the fourth quarter of

2005, the Audit Committee carried out major tasks

as follows:

(1) Corporate Governance

- Reviewed the SEC’s CG practices and

proposed a more concrete and complete

CG framework for both at the SEC Board and

the SEC.

- Set up action plans in line with the guidelines

approved by the Board, covering the drafting

of CG handbook and code of conduct and

conflicts of interest in every area to promote

strict compliance with CG policies.

- Reviewed and proposed guidelines for

handling complaints against the SEC staff.
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(2) Operation

- Reviewed the Internal Audit Department’s

2005 report, focusing on key activities and

major risk issues, including administrative

sanctions, approval for issuance and offering

of securities, and the review of issuing

company auditors’ working papers and

listed companies’ financial statements.

(3) Finance and Financial Statements

- Reviewed the Internal Audit Department’s

2005 report focusing on  finance and financial

statements, which involved audits of the

preparation process of the financial statements

and procurement procedures.

4. Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department supports the Audit

Committee’s performance to ensure that the

Committee’s core objectives will be achieved by way

of assessment as well as improvement of risk

management procedures, internal control and

governance. The Department’s work is carried out

with independence and objectivity. The Audit

Committee considers and presents view concerning

appointment, transfer, dismiss and remuneration

of Internal Audit Department Director, and the

Secretary-General will consider in terms of

remuneration and performance of Internal Audit

Department Director.

In addition, Internal Audit Department composes a

set of internal audit standards, which serves as a

benchmark for internal audit activity in line with the

professional requirements and enhance greater

efficiency and effectiveness.
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Whom and How We Regulate

Licensed/approved corporations and

individuals undertaking securities businesses,

derivatives businesses, or related activities/

services as follows:

• Securities brokers, dealers and underwriters

• Derivatives agents/dealers

• Mutual fund/private fund/derivatives

management

• Venture capital management

• Securities/derivatives investment advisors

• Securities borrowing and lending

• Securities financing

• Inter-dealer brokers

• Investor contacts (e.g. analysts and

marketing officers)

• Fund managers

• Fund supervisors/custodians

• Credit rating agency

• Major shareholders/executives of securities

companies, asset management companies

and derivatives business operators

Professionals related to issuance and offering

of securities and company takeover:

• Financial advisors

• Property valuers

• Auditors

• Bond holder representatives

Securities issuers and listed companies

Stock Exchange of Thailand

Derivatives exchange

Clearing house, derivatives clearing house,

securities depository center and securities

registrar

Associations related to securities businesses

• Set licensing and approval standards to ensure that all practitioners are

fit and proper

• Issue rules and regulations for authorization and operation of securities

businesses

• Issue rules and regulations governing asset management activities and

issue guidelines for proper operations

• Grant license/approval to qualified corporations and individuals

• Authorize mutual fund schemes to ensure that the schemes are in line

with specified regulations

• Monitor submission of reporting requirements and information disclosure

to assure a sound financial condition and capital adequacy according to

rules and regulations

• Conduct routine inspection and special investigation against possible

contravention or malpractice

• Handle complaints against misconduct

• Set approval standards to ensure that related persons are fit and

proper

• Set standards for authorization and practices and monitoring compliance

with specified rules and regulations

• Review documents/reports prepared by financial advisors, property

valuers, and auditors

• Handle complaints against misconduct

• Approve securities issuance and offering

• Oversee information disclosure

• Monitor inappropriate or unfair actions

• Monitor and update a database of qualified executives

• Handle complaints against malpractice and breach of specified rules

and regulations

• Approve rules and regulations and amendments to such rules and

regulations

• Examine business operation, ensure financial soundness and conduct

investigation against possible misconduct or complaints

• Approve the operation and engagement in new activities/services

• Grant license, approve regulations, examine business operation and

ensure capital adequacy

• Grant license and register associations and their regulations

Whom How
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“Pha  Lai Yang”:  The splendor of fine arts on the fabric

This precious fabric of painting look from India is worn by the Siamese kings

and noblemen. The pattern is designed by Ayudhya artists and sent to Indian

craftsmen to paint with Batik technique.The finished work is returned to

the Siamese Court for use, as evidenced especially in the early Ayudhya period.
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Strategic Plan 2006 - 2008 and Action Plan 2006

The supervision and development of the Thai capital

market involve solving problems from the past,

eliminating obstacles at present, and promoting better

standards for the future. This is to ensure that

products and services of the securities business can

keep pace, and be on par, with changing market

environments. The SEC has laid out a three-year

strategic plan to support continuance of supervisory

and developmental progress. An action plan will be

prepared, implemented and assessed annually to

maintain clear and focused operation toward

achievement of strategic goals.

Strategic Plan 2006 - 2008

In formulating the three-year strategic plan, the SEC

took into account influential incidents that may affect

the capital market. External factors include fluctuation

of oil prices and interest rates, the government’s

mega-projects, implication of an enactment of deposit

insurance regulation and liberalization of trade and

financial sectors. The local market is also facing

internal shortcomings such as corporate governance,

high dependency on brokerage commission revenue

among securities companies, disproportionate

institutional investors, short-term speculation of retail

investors, insufficient risk management tools and the

relatively small and low-liquidity bond market.

There are potential risks associated with such

challenging market environment. For example,

investors may lose confidence in products and market

mechanism while issuers may have difficulty raising

capital in such an effective form and a timely manner

for their best benefit. For securities companies,

long-term competition may become an unobtainable

goal. To prevent such risks, all parties must inevitably

improve their performance and strengthen their



24 Annual Report 2005

potential in every aspect to prepare the local capital

market for international competition.

The strategic plan 2006 - 2008 has been laid out with

operational directions that well address the

aforementioned circumstances and set forth for

sustainable development ahead. Key strategic

objectives and goals are categorized into four groups

as follows:

Objective 1:

To enhance accessibility to reliable

market and quality products

Goals:

1.1 Listed companies and market participants

maintain good corporate governance.

1.2 Financial statements reflect the true value of

listed companies.

1.3 Auditors perform their duties properly.

1.4 Accounting practices are consistent with

international standards.

1.5 Issuers have convenient and reasonable

instruments for issuance of investment while

investors have sufficient investment alternatives.

Objective 2:

To promote integrity of market

mechanisms

Goals:

2.1 Market manipulation, insider trading and money

laundering are effectively prevented and

suppressed.

2.2 Securities companies, securities depository

center and clearing house have standard risk

management systems, internationally, and

adequate operating capital.

2.3 Asset management companies have efficient

investment systems.

2.4 Individual investors are adequately protected.

2.5 Regulatory systems comply with international

standards and are ready to enter the Financial

Sector Assessment Program (FSAP) of

International Monetary Fund (IMF).

2.6 Investment through institutional investors is an

attractive channel to the capital market for retail

investors.

2.7 Market infrastructure is ready to accommodate

mandatory provident funds.

Objective 3:

To have complete and competitive

market infrastructure

Goals:

3.1 The bond market has robust liquidity to enhance

capital market balance.

3.2 Futures markets for equities and interest rates

are established.

3.3 Securities borrowing and lending (SBL) and

repurchase agreements (repo) are efficient.

3.4 Laws and taxation schemes support financial

transactions and product innovations.

3.5 Securities businesses are competitive in terms

of structure, size, quantity, and business model.

3.6 The capital market has concrete linkage and

cooperation with regional counterparts.

Objective 4:

To enhance a positive image of the

SEC as an international standard

organization

Goals:

4.1 The SEC is a respectable organization of

transparency, credibility and good corporate

governance.

4.2 The SEC has effective risk management system.



Achievements

25Annual Report 2005

4.3 The SEC is a modern organization with accurate,

complete and timely information.

4.4 The SEC has human resources of high caliber,

versatile skills, flexibility and insightful knowledge

of capital markets.

Action Plan 2006

The SEC set up an action plan for the year 2006

based on the key objectives of the strategic plan

2006 - 2008 with specific concentration in the

following areas:

1. Promotion of Corporate Governance

among Listed Companies

In continuance with the World Bank’s CG-ROSC

program, which provided Thailand with aspects of

strengths and shortcomings of the Thai capital

market, the SEC in 2006 will expedite campaigns to

improve corporate governance practices of listed

companies, emphasizing the importance of this

mission and active cooperation, especially in the

following three major projects of the year:

• The Annual General Shareholders Meeting

Assessment;

• The Institutional Investors’ Voting Policy

Campaign; and

• The Internationalization of Thai Accounting

Standards in cooperation with the FAP.

2. New Market Preparation

In 2006, the infrastructure of the Thai capital market

will approach its completion and be ready to

accommodate new alternative products. Financial

transactions will become more versatile and

complicated. Business operators and investors have

to learn and familiarize themselves with emerging

financial product innovations. The SEC will take

specific actions in the following areas:

Bond Market

• To promote the development of secondary

markets and settlement systems - The SET will

become the center of bond exchange for individual

and institutional investors and  the Thailand

Securities Depository Co., Ltd. (TSD) will become

the center of bond settlements. The SEC will

monitor and evaluate their operation for further

development.

• To promote the role of the ThaiBMA as the core

center of bond trading in the country.

Derivatives Market

• To support the launch of the TFEX both in the

area of equity index futures and interest rate

futures.

• To promote derivatives accounting standards.

Securities Companies

To support industry improvement with an emphasis

on more robustness and less dependence on

brokerage business by:

• Diversifying services such as SBL, repo for private

investors and structured products;

• Supporting business mergers to form larger-sized

securities firms for business expansion beyond

the dominating brokerage services at present;

• Promoting business cooperation with foreign

financial institutions for knowledge transfer; and

• Promoting sale of local products in foreign markets

to build up experience and expertise and studying

business standards and practices aboard for

potential adoption as domestic practices.
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3. International Cooperation

FTA and capital competition are major factors for

capital linkage in the region. Each country needs to

strengthen its competitive edge. The SEC has taken

proactive approaches by increasing its roles in the

international arena and promoting regional

cooperation as summarized below:

International roles

• As chairman of the IOSCO APRC, to

(1) encourage member signing of the IOSCO

MMoU that will allow exchange of information and

cross-border enforcement of securities violations

and (2) implement IOSCO Objectives and

Principles in the supervision of capital markets.

• To participate in the standardization of

international regulations and assist in educational

projects for capital market development.

Expansion of Market Evaluation

• To enter the FSAP of the World Bank and expand

scopes of evaluation from the focus on corporate

governance to other areas of concerns.

Promotion of Cooperation within the

Region and among Target Countries

• To push forward for exchange linkages in the

ASEAN countries by participating in working

groups to study potential and improvement of

regulations of mutual acceptance.

• To cooperate with the MAS and the Securities

and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (HKSFC)

to study possibility for amendment of regulations

in respective jurisdictions and to evaluate

readiness for cross-border trading of investment

units.

• To enhance cooperation with regulatory bodies

in other regions that present potential for joint

investment in the Thai capital market such as the

Middle East.

4. Expansion of Institutional Investors

Following the governmental promotion of public

saving, mutual funds will become a major

invesment alternative. Developing and diversifying

mutual fund products will serve public demands

and increase the number of institutional investors

in a long run. In 2006, the SEC will pay special

attention to the feasibility for establishment of new

types of mutual funds such as:

• Property funds to be managed by industry

experts as opposed to asset management

companies as currently practiced. In this respect,

the SEC Board announced its resolution to

appoint a sub-committee to consider the

establishment and management of expert-run

property funds; and

• Education funds with tax intensives to be jointly

promoted by the Association of Investment

Management Companies (AIMC), the Ministry of

Education and the Revenue Department for

the benefits of parents’ savings for youth

education.

To ensure that the strategic plan stays up-to-dated,

focused and relevant to changing market

environment, the SEC will assess action plans on a

yearly basis. The assessment results will be applied

for further adjustments of the Capital Market

Development Master Plan.
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Key Achievements in 2005

Corporate

Finance

Intermediaries

• Promote good CG among listed

companies and independent

professionals

• Approve issuance and offering of

securities in line with governmental

policies

• Oversee information disclosure and

inappropriate actions of listed

companies

• S u p e r v i s e     i n d e p e n d e n t

professionals, e.g., financial

advisors, property valuers and

auditors

• Enhance good CG of capital

market intermediaries in the

areas of management and service

offering

• Grant licenses and supervise

securities brokers, dealers,

underwriters and advisors

• Examine various risk exposures of

intermediaries

• Approve and supervise investor

contacts type A (analyzing

• Built up knowledge and better understanding of

good CG among listed companies; produced a

Director’s Handbook, prescribed roles and

responsibilities of listed companies’ chief

financial officers (CFO)

• Strengthened checks and balances mechanism

through independent directors

• Screened quality of securities issuers; assisted

issuing companies in effective fund raising

through the capital market in actual times of need

• Developed and diversified debt instrument

products; amended issuance regulations;

enhanced product quality; reduced default

potential and investors’ risks

• Imposed measures on listed companies to

prevent inappropriate transactions that might

lead to siphoning of funds; ordered correction

of financial statements to reveal the true financial

position of listed companies

• Strictly supervised independent professionals to

ensure high standard operation; appointed

expert steering groups to consider offenses and

punishments

• Strengthened checks and balances mechanism

of securities companies through independent

directors

• Granted limited brokerage, dealing and

underwriting license (LBDU)

• Relaxed supervisory regulations imposed on

securities companies to accommodate

group-structured businesses and international

practices

• Spearheaded measures to prevent and

eliminate market rumors and price manipulation

What We Do Achievements
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activities) and type B (dealing

activities)

• Elevate CG of asset management

companies in the areas of

business administration and fund

management and promote good

CG among listed firms and the

capital market at large

• Grant licenses and supervise

securities and derivatives business

operators in the management of

mutual funds, private funds,

derivatives and venture capital

• Authorize mutual fund schemes

and develop innovative funds

• Approve and supervise fund

managers, fund supervisors and

custodians

through securities companies and drafted

regulations on securities companies acting as a

facilitator for money laundering

• Inspected securities companies based on risk

based approach (RBA)

• Issued rules and regulations on the approval of

investor contacts under a single registration

regime

• Provided standard of conduct guidelines for

investor contacts who provide information to the

media to ensure sound advice and due

responsibilities

• Promoted good CG of listed companies by way

of proxy voting of asset management companies

and information disclosure of such voting at the

shareholder meetings

• Revised regulations on capital adequacy

maintenance and mandated professional

indemnity insurance

• Revised regulations on debt instrument

investment focusing on product quality and

accessibility

• Permitted investments in structured products

and offshore securities

• Launched an SAQ to be used as a risk

management tool

• Initiated the quarterly compliance meeting to

facilitate mutual cooperation and communication

• Enhanced provident fund committees’

knowledge and understanding of good CG

• Issued regulations on provident fund NAV

verification

• Revised regulations on provident fund auditors

Asset

Management

What We Do Achievements
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• Investigate possible contraventions

of the SEC Act

• Take action against wrongdoers

through administrative and criminal

proceedings

• Cooperate with local and foreign

regulators in promoting information

exchange and developing

investigative procedures and law

enforcement

• Approve rules and regulations

issued by the SET

• Supervise the operation of the SET

and its subsidiaries

• Develop a variety of financial

instruments in such a way that

maintains appropriate balance

and creates risk management

alternatives

• Strengthen securities companies’

competitiveness in preparation for

future FTA

• Operate cost-effective budget to

meet the objectives of the SEC

Strategic Plan

• Provide comprehensive and

accessible information and services

to investors

• Organize educational activities for

investors and the public at large

• Strengthen staff ’s core and

functional competency

• Investigated 55 cases, the majority of which

involved market manipulation, corporate fraud

and insider trading

• Presented 48 cases to the Settlement

Committee, who ordered 62 offenders to pay the

total penalty fine of 15.28 million baht. The

proceeds have been remitted to the Ministry of

Finance.

• Filed six criminal complaints with criminal

authorities against a number of persons,

including some former executives of listed

companies

• Approved the SET’s and the TSD’s rules and

regulations on business expansion; inspected

the operation of Settrade.com Co., Ltd. (Settrade)

• Granted licenses of futures exchange and

futures clearing house; approved regulations

governing the supervision of the futures market.

• Arranged trainings for supervisory officers to

ensure their readiness for futures business

• Restructured the bond market infrastructure;

consolidated bond trading platform under the

SET; amended regulations to facilitate the

expansion of securitization business

• Effective budget management

• Enhanced IT-based communication and

information services

• Launched a public survey on SEC proficiency

and corporate image

• Set up a system for staff proficiency

enhancement under the project,“Human

Potential Leverage for Organizational

Capabilities”

Enforcement

Market

Development

Corporate

Affairs

What We Do Achievements
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“Pha  Kem Kharb”: The finest fabric from India to the Siamese Court

The premium fabric from the Indian city of Varanasi or Beaeres is

an apparel of Siamese kings and noblemen. The elegant look of gold

or silver yarns in stripe pattern on plain silk is beautifully accentuated

with delicate, flowery designs such as jasmine.
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Significant Events in 2005

C

January 25

The SEC introduced a “Director’s

Handbook” to assist listed company

directors in the performance of their

duties and launched a “Director and

Management Registration System”

via the SEC website.

January 27

The SEC issued three notifications

to accommodate the establishment

of “Tsunami Fund” aiming to help

tsunami-hit entrepreneurs in the

southern provinces.

February 11

The SEC granted a derivatives

exchange license to the TFEX and a

derivatives clearing house license

to the TCH.

February 25

The SEC hosted the IOSCO APRC

Workshop on the “IOSCO Multilateral

Memorandum of Understanding” in

Bangkok.

March 15

The SEC issued criteria on USD500

million allocation for asset

management companies to expand

their offshore investment after the

Bank of Thailand (BOT)’s approval.

March 17

The SEC and the Federation of

Capital Market Organizations

(FeTCO) jointly launched the

on-going Capital Market for Students

program.

March 28

The SEC imposed probationary

penalty on three securities company

executives regarding unorganized

market loans in Hat Yai, Songkhla

Province.

April 1

The SEC appointed Mr. Pravej

Ongartsittigul to the post of

Senior Assistant Secretary-General.

The SEC also restructured its

organization by (1) establishing

a new department called “Corporate

Governance Department” to

accelerate the effectiveness of

sound corporate governance in

the Thai capital market and

(2) expanding responsibilities of the

“Research Department” to include

the supervision and development of

the debt securities market.

April 19

The SEC contributed a 1.5 million

baht to the Thai Institute of Directors

Association (IOD) to support the

project on “Corporate Governance

Report of Thai Listed Companies

2005.”

April 27-28

The SEC, the Organisation for

Economic Co-operation and

Development (OECD) and the

International Organisation of

Pension Supervisors (IOPS) co-

hosted an international conference

on “Private Pensions in Asia” in

Bangkok.
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share offering of alcoholic beverage

companies to the SEC. The other

subsequent protests were on

October 14 and November 11.

July 29

The SEC signed an MOU with

the DSI to enhance investigative

cooperation.

September 7

The National Corporate Governance

Committee (NCGC) acknowledged

the impressive result of the World

Bank’s CG-ROSC of the Thai capital

market. The SEC, as the lead

coordinator, has been assigned to

strive forward in promoting CG to

reach more substantial and tangible

outcomes.

May 24

The SEC and the Kenan Institute

of Asia introduced Professional

Practice Standards and Code of

Conduct for Property Valuation,

effective from July 1, 2005.

June 6

Mr. Thirachai Phuvanatnaranubala,

SEC Secretary-General, was

elected Chairman of the IOSCO

APRC.

June 30

The SEC filed a criminal complaint

against two former top executives

of Picnic Corporation Plc. and

eight other persons concerning

falsification of documents and

accounts and dishonest violation of

duties.

July 6

The SEC amended a regulation

governing the investment of mutual

funds and provident funds in bills of

exchange, effective from July 1,

2006.

July 20

A coalition of protesters handed

their opposing statements against

September 15

The SEC signed an LOI with the

MAS to enhance mutual regulatory

recognition and cooperation.

September 16

The SEC hosted the IOSCO APRC

& APRC Enforcement Directors’

Meetings in Bangkok.

September 19

The SEC welcomed high-ranking

officials from the China Securities

Regulatory Commission (CSRC).

September 21

SEC Secretary-General presented

the result of the World Bank’s

CG-ROSC of the Thai capital market

at the ASEAN Finance Ministers’

Investor Seminar Road Show in

London.

{X1} Plc.
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October 3

The SEC signed an MOU with

the BOT and the Insurance

Department, Ministry of Commerce

on the exchange of information and

cooperation.

October 4

The SEC filed a criminal complaint

against three former executives of

Daidomon Group Plc. on falsification

of the company’s documents and

accounts.

October 12

The SEC issued a new rule on

auditor rotation, effective from

January 1, 2006.

October 26

The NCGC, the FeTCO, the

SET and the SEC co-hosted a

CG-ROSC seminar entitled “The

World Bank’s Views on Thai CG and

Future Directions of the Thai Capital

Market.”

November 14

The SEC approved (1) foreign

c o r p o r a t i o n s      t o      o f f e r      n e w l y

issued debt securities for sale to

commercial banks in Thailand and

(2) multinational corporations to

issue baht-denominated bonds in

Thailand, effective from February

16, 2006.

The Settlement Committee imposed

penalty fine on six executives of

Singha Paratech Plc. on their

negligence of duty to report the

changes in their securities holdings

caused by their trading of the

company shares through nominees.

November 16

The SEC revised rules and

regulations to enlarge the roles of

ThaiBMA.

November 15-18

The SEC hosted the “Enforcement

Training School” program on “How

to Fight Corporate Frauds” for the

IOSCO APRC members and related

organizations in Bangkok.

December 1

The SEC, in cooperation with the

Association of Provident Fund

(AOP), the AIMC and the Thailand

Securities Institute (TSI), set up an

“FC Fundamental Course” to

educate provident fund committees

on their roles and responsibilities.

December 23

The SEC announced its 2005

performance and 2006 action plan

focusing on strengthening CG in the

capital market and collaboration

from all related parties.{X2} Plc.
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Corporate Governance Achievement in 2005

After the financial crisis in 1997, CG has become the

key issue of confidence enhancement in the Thai

capital market. Consequently, the Thai government

designated 2002 as the Year of Corporate

Governance, setting a policy for governmental and

private sectors to cooperate in economy-wide efforts

to improve various aspects of  CG practices. As the

regulator of the Thai capital market, the SEC has

initiated and supported campaigns to enhance

and expedite CG  improvement among listed

companies, securities firms, asset management

companies and all stakeholders. These efforts

constituted a significant progress in 2005 when

Thailand entered the World Bank’s CG-ROSC

program. The satisfactory results earned the Thai

capital market good recognitions for its CG

improvement, marking the year 2005 a successful

beginning toward best practice in the Thai capital

market.

CG-ROSC Participation

In early 2004, Thailand entered the CG-ROSC

program to provide local and international investors

with accurate updates on the progress of CG

practices in the Thai capital market. The SEC played

a key role to ensure complete assessment and

effective cooperation between the World Bank’s

representatives and relevant market entities. The

assessment criteria were benchmarked against the

OECD principles, which are divided into six areas:

(1) CG framework

(2) Rights of shareholders

(3) Equitable treatment of shareholders

(4) Roles of stakeholders in CG

(5) Disclosure and transparency

(6) Responsibilities of the Board

The assessment completed in early September 2005

revealed that Thailand generally met the international

standards. The country received a satisfactory ranking

against other Asian countries with the final passing

of 22 out of the total 32 principles. Further steps need

to be taken to improve on the rest. Yet, the bottom

line is that in no areas of assessment did Thailand

fail below international standards.
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The CG-ROSC report mirrored CG improvements,

boosted investor confidence in the Thai capital

market, and presented to stakeholders a clearer

picture of their strengths and shortcomings for further

self-improvement. On September 7, 2005 the NCGC

meeting chaired by Prime Minister approved the

public announcement of the CG-ROSC report and

action plans laid out to address the World Bank’s

observations on areas for improvement.

On October 26, 2005 the SEC, the NCGC, the SET

and the FeTCO co-hosted a CG-ROSC seminar

entitled “The World Bank’s Views on Thai CG and

Future Directions of the Thai Capital Market” to

publicize the CG-ROSC report and the World Bank’s

recommendations. The SEC also published a Thai

language handbook entitled, The World Bank’s

Views on Thai CG, recapitulating the principles and

rationale for entering the CG-ROSC program and

clarifying assessment results for better knowledge

and understanding of stakeholders and the interested

public. The handbook also covered cooperative

guidelines for market participants and stakeholders

to move Thai CG toward international standards.

CG-ROSC Comparison between Thailand and other Asian Countries

unit: percentage of observance

Results Thailand South Korea Indonesia India The Philippines

O - 17 - 44 17

LO 69 43 9 26 26

PO 31 40 78 26 -

MNO - - 13 4 53

NO - - - - 4

Total 100 100 100 100 100

O (Observed) = All essential criteria are met without significant deficiencies.

LO (Largely Observed) = All essential criteria are met and only minor shortcomings are observed.

PO (Partially Observed) = Principles are complied with but certain practices diverge.

MNO (Materially Not Observed) = International criteria are not met or met but shortcomings raise doubts of

observance ability.

NO (Not Observed) = No substantive progress has been achieved.
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“Pha Ad Ta Lat”: The tree of life

This precious apparel worn by Siamese dignitaries is decorated with sharp

relief flowery designs woven with pure gold or silver wrapped silk yarn.

The result is unique classic elegance.



Divisional Reports

37Annual Report 2005

What We Do

• Promote good CG among listed companies and

independent professionals

• Approve issuance and offering of securities in line

with governmental policies

• Oversee information disclosure and inappropriate

actions of listed companies

• Supervise independent professionals, e.g.,

financial advisors, property valuers and auditors

Securities Issuance and Public

Offering

In 2005, the total offering value of initial public

offering (IPO) shares was 84,827 million baht, a

decline of 14.9% compared to the value of the

previous year. Fifty-seven companies were approved

to offer IPO shares and 48 companies (including

grantees in 2004) successfully completed their

IPOs with the total offering value of 21,967 million

baht. The three largest IPO offerings of the year

were EGAT Plc. (share offering to employees for

a total value of 5,103 million baht), Glow Energy Plc.

(1,920 million baht) and Preuksa Real Estate Plc.

(1,577 million baht). The total offering value of

public offerings (PO) was 19,915 million baht, of

which Italian-Thai Development Plc. was the largest

offering with a total value of 3,920 million baht,

followed by Shin Satellite Plc. and Eastern Wire Plc.,

which had offering values of 3,182 million baht

and 1,184 million baht, respectively.

Corporate Finance

Achievements

• Built up knowledge and better understanding of

good CG among listed companies; produced a

Director’s Handbook, prescribed roles and

responsibilities of listed companies’ CFO

• Strengthened checks and balances mechanism

through independent directors

• Screened quality of securities issuers; assisted

issuing companies in effective fund raising through

the capital market in actual times of need

• Developed and diversified debt instrument

products; amended issuance regulations;

enhanced product quality; reduced default

potential and investors’ risks

• Imposed measures on listed companies to

prevent inappropriate transactions that might lead

to siphoning of funds; ordered correction of

financial statements to reveal the true financial

position of listed companies

• Strictly supervised independent professionals to

ensure high standard operation; appointed expert

steering groups to consider offenses and

punishments

In This Chapter

• Securities issuance and public offering

• Development of regulations for issuance and

offering of debt instruments

• Elevating corporate governance of listed

companies

• Shareholder protection

• Supervision of independent professionals

• Takeover supervision
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In the bond market, the total offering of debt

instruments was 321,400 million baht, an increase

of 108.5% compared to the previous year. The

increased value of domestic subscription was partly

attributed to fund raising by state agencies such as

the bond issuance of the Energy Fund Administration

Institute at a value of 26,400 million baht, and bonds

offering under the asset securitization program by

the Thanarak Asset Development Co., Ltd., in which

the Ministry of Finance holds 99% shares, at a value

of 10,300 million baht. In addition, bond offering

by multinational financial institutions accounted for

7 billion baht in total value.

Equity Offering Value

Value (million baht) 1/

2004 2005

IPO 2/ 37,671 21,967

PO 28,325 19,915

Director and employee stock option plan 1,570 1,745

Private placements 32,090 41,200

Total 99,656 84,827

Notes: 1/  Including offering value of warrants to purchase common and preferred shares.
2/  Including offerings to directors and employees.

Debt Instrument Approval Value in 2004 - 2005

2004 2005

No. of Value 1/ No. of Value 1/

Issues (million baht) Issues (million baht)

Domestic offerings 73 132,866.40 145 225,273.10

International financial institution bonds - - 2 7,000.00

State enterprises/state agencies bonds 2/ - - 5 33,400.00

General bonds 64 128,105.40 108 162,273.00

Bonds for securitization 6 4,071.00 8 16,300.10

Derivatives debentures 3 690.00 22 6,300.00

Foreign subscription 2 21,276.00 10 96,126.80

General bonds 2 21,276.00 10 96,126.80

Total 75 154,142.40 155 321,399.90

 Notes: 1/ Excluding short-term debt instruments approved on a yearly or project-by-project basis.
2/ In 2004, state enterprises and state agencies issuing bonds for private placements were not required

to submit filings to the SEC.
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Development of Regulations for

Issuance and Offering of Debt

Instruments

Increasing Quality Debt Securities

To develop the bond market and diversify industry

products, the SEC granted permission for

multinational corporations to issue and offer debt

instruments locally on the condition that the issuers

are granted prior approval from the Ministry of

Finance and comply with disclosure regulations of

the SEC.

Investor Protection and Relaxing

Regulations

The SEC amended regulations to standardize the

preparation of financial statements of debenture

issuing non-listed companies in line with accounting

standards of listed companies. This is to provide

investors with financial information of internationally

accepted standards from both listed and non-listed

issuers. The requirement took effect on financial

statements ending in 2005 onwards.

Meanwhile, the SEC amended its regulations

regarding the preparation of financial statements

of bonds issuing companies incorporated in foreign

countries by allowing the issuers to either comply with

Thai accounting standards or International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRS) or United States

Generally Accepted Accounting Principle

(US GAAP) or other standards approved by the

SEC. Also, the submission deadlines for financial

statements, financial status and operating

performance of the above issuers can be concurrent

with those of the foreign exchanges where the issuers

are listed. Such disclosed information can be in Thai

or English.

Elevating Corporate Governance of

Listed Companies

Director’s Handbook

The SEC has put together and disseminated a

Director’s Handbook to guide directors of listed

companies to a better understanding of their roles

and responsibilities. A seminar was held on February

18, 2005 to introduce and provide practical guidelines

for implementation. The handbook was reviewed by

external experts from the SET, the Listed Companies

Association, the Board of Trade of Thailand and the

IOD to ensure accuracy and suitability.

The Director’s Handbook not only helps company

directors to clearly comprehend their roles and

responsibilities but also recommends practical

approaches in compliance with international

corporate governance standards, the Public Limited

Company Act B.E. 2535 (1992), the SEC Act and

other relevant regulations.

Strengthening Thai Accounting Standards

The SEC has worked closely with the FAP by holding

quarterly meetings to discuss key issues related to

policies on accounting standard development and

professional practice amendments to be consistent

with international counterparts. The 2005 progress

in these efforts are summarized as follows:

• Supported the FAP-led improvement of Thai

accounting standards to comply with the IFRS by

2006 to enhance multinational competitiveness

of Thai companies and the capital market and

provide Thai and foreign investors the

ability of financial analysis and comparison of

companies in the Thai capital market and

those in others. The Thai accounting standard

adjustment takes into consideration the issues of



40 Annual Report 2005

practicality and inappropriate impacts on business

operation. The SEC also supported improvement

of auditing standards and code of conduct for

accounting professionals in line with universal

benchmarks.

• Issued the auditor rotation regulation that requires

listed companies to change auditor at least once

every five fiscal years to enhance independence

of auditors in line with good CG practices.

• Cooperated with the FAP to issue four accounting

and auditing guidelines as follows:

1. Recording for investments in subsidiaries or

associates in case that these companies hold

shares in parent enterprises

2. Disclosure of retained earning provision for

treasury stocks

3. Revenue recognition for unfinished real estate

projects purchased for further development

4. Recording of accounting for capital reduction

to offset retained loss

• Delegated representatives to be members of the

FAP boards of committees and sub-committees

as follows:

1. Accounting Ethics Standard Committee

2. Accounting Ethic Standard-setting Sub-

committee

3. Accounting Professions Development Sub-

committee

4. Accounting Standard-setting Committee

5. Auditing Committee

6. Accounting Standards Vetting Sub-committee

7. Auditing Standards Vetting Sub-Committee

In 2005, the SEC organized various activities to

strengthen knowledge and understanding of

accounting professions, especially in the areas

closely relevant to the capital market. For example,

a seminar on listing preparation jointly organized with

the SET, public hearings on draft regulations

concerning consideration of controlling power and

preparation of consolidated financial statements, and

19 lectures on accounting knowledge for listed

companies, audit firms, investors, academic

institutions and private and governmental agencies.

Roles of Chief Financial Officers

The SEC requires that all listed companies prepare

financial statements in accordance with Thai

accounting standards and that chief financial officers

(CFO) and company directors verify the accuracy of

such statements. This is to ensure that the CFO who

has duty to supervise and control the preparation of

financial reports will be held responsible for the

information disclosed to the investing public. Over

the years, the FAP has organized training courses

for CFOs on a regular basis, especially when new

accounting standards were introduced, to keep CFOs

updated and able to apply accepted standards into

accurate practice.

Strengthening Checks and Balances

Mechanism through Independent

Directors

Independent directors are a driving force toward

management transparency of listed companies. To

reinforce their crucial role, the SEC issued a circular

letter to listed firms, advising them to (1) appoint more

independent directors than the minimum requirement

of three persons and (2) set their own stringent

requirements for independent directors beyond basic

prerequisites to express their intentions to promote

good CG.
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Assessment Report on CG of Listed

Companies

To support and expedite listed companies’

compliance with the SET’s 15 CG Principles, the SEC

and the SET encouraged the IOD to continue its

assessment reports on CG practices of listed

companies for the year 2004, the fourth consecutive

year, under the OECD Principles and the SET’s 15

principles. The overall report issued in 2005 revealed

continued progress in CG practices of listed

companies. The IOD report, sent to all listed

companies, helped stimulate their awareness of the

essence of CG and provided practical approaches

for further improvement in the area.

Progress in Amendments of Laws and

Regulations

The SEC has expedited the amendment procedures

for laws related to the promotion of good CG among

listed companies and related persons, including the

SEC Act and the Public Limited Company Act B.E.

2535 (1992). The SEC also proposed class action

proceedings in the Civil Code and requested the

NCGC to accelerate preparatory procedures for the

consideration and approval procedures. The NCGC

meeting on September 7, 2005 resolved to complete

the amendment and submission of draft Acts to the

House of Representatives for consideration by the

end of the year.

In addition, the SEC regulations were amended in

line with international standards. These included

the separation and clarification of roles and

responsibilities between independent directors and

audit committees, the disclosure of remunerations

for individual directors and records of director

attendance in board meetings. There was also a

public hearing on spin-off procedures for listed

companies wishing to offer shares of subsidiaries to

investors. The views and suggestions from this survey

were taken into consideration to lay out guidelines

and amend related regulations, focusing on protection

and rights of shareholders.

Shareholder Protection

Directors and Executives Registration

To ensure that directors and executives of issuing

companies will perform their fiduciary duties prudently

and honestly to protect the best interest of their

companies and shareholders, the SEC requires that

company directors and executives meet all

qualification requirements imposed by law and be

registered on the SEC’s Directors and Executives

Registration Database. Any director or executive who

improperly performs their duties and causes negative

impacts on the companies and shareholders

will be denied or removed from the SEC’s list. In 2005,

approximately 8,000 directors and executives were

registered on the SEC’s list.

Prevention of Siphoning

The SEC has strengthened a control monitoring

methodology to prevent listed companies from

making inappropriate transactions that may lead to

siphoning of funds out of the companies and unfair

advantages taken from listed companies and minority

shareholders. If the SEC finds ambiguous activities

or intention to report false information or concealment

of information that should have been disclosed, it will

take actions against wrongdoers. Such actions

include (1) instruct the director to provide additional

explanation, (2) instruct the company to submit clear

and sufficient information, (3) encourage more critical

analysis on appropriateness and impacts of such

wrongful activities, (4) order the company to terminate
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or correct such improper transactions, or (5) take

actions against directors and executives who commit

fraudulent activities.

As a result of the SEC’s continuous efforts against

improper benefit transfers, there were fewer

connected transactions that may have led to

siphoning of funds. In 2005, the SEC successfully

stopped five inappropriate connected transactions

worth approximately 400 million baht in total.

Supervision of Information Disclosure

Information disclosure is one of the key elements in

CG principles. As accurate, complete and sufficient

information helps investors identify quality

companies, the SEC has continued to put a strong

emphasis on the oversight of information disclosure

of listed companies, securities issuers and offerors.

In addition to monitoring securities offering filing and

prospectuses, the SEC focuses on issues that require

shareholders to exercise their voting rights such as

disclosure of connected transactions and acquisitions

or dispositions of material assets. Should any listed

company fail to disclose clear, accurate and sufficient

information, the SEC will reinforce surveillance and

ensure proper disclosure, transparency  and  fairness

for  shareholders.

Reviews of Financial Statements

The SEC dedicates its human resources, contributes

its facilities and hires independent experts to monitor,

review and analyze financial statements, auditor

reports and auditor working paper to ensure that the

financial statements of listed companies comply with

accounting standards and that auditor reports are

truly useful for investors’ decision-making.

The SEC also appointed the Accounting and

Governance Steering Group comprising specialists

in the fields of auditing, accounting, internal control

and law as well as academic scholars to support the

SEC’s supervision of listed companies’ accounting

practices and prevention of siphoning. Close

cooperation with the FAP were continued to address

issues concerning accounting and audit standards.

These measures not only promote higher quality of

listed companies’ financial statements but also

enhance transparency and fairness to those

affected by the SEC’s execution of power under

the SEC Act.

• Reviews of listed companies’ financial

statements

The SEC reviews quarterly and annual financial

statements of listed companies on a regular basis -

each listed firm is examined at least once every two

years - and looks over every auditor report on the

financial statements of all listed firms. The SEC also

analyzes and evaluates companies or industries

exposed to potential risks to prepare and disclose

financial statements noncompliance with acceptable

accounting standards by examining auditor reports,

analyzing key financial ratios and monitoring changes

of business operation and investors’ complaints.

Should there be any substantial evidence to doubt

legitimacy of financial statements, the SEC will seek

clarifications or facts from the listed companies in

question or its auditors and consult with relevant

steering groups or the FAP before considering further

appropriate actions. In 2005, the SEC reviewed

financial statements of 297 listed companies, nine of

which were ordered to correct their financial

statements. The subsequent rectifications reduced

the total assets of these companies by 3,237 million

baht, augmented total liabilities by 330 million baht

and decreased net profit by 2,239 million baht.
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In case there is clear evidence that the preparation

and disclosure of financial statements are incorrect

by dishonest intention or mislead investors in such a

way that causes damages to minority shareholders

and affects confidence in the Thai capital market, the

SEC will file complaints against company executives

or related persons for further legal proceedings. In

2005, the SEC filed complaints against 13 company

executives and related persons in cases connected

to two listed companies.

• Review of IPO companies’ financial

statements

In considering IPO applications, the SEC reviews

the auditor’s working paper of every IPO company

to assure that these companies have appropriate

and efficient internal control and reveal accurate

and sufficient information in its financial statements

in compliance with accounting standards. The SEC

approves auditors’ operation and improvement

and also monitors throughout the reviewing

process.

As a result of auditors’ working paper review, the

SEC in some cases recommended IPO companies

to improve the efficiency of their internal control and

auditors to upgrade their operation and continue to

further examine certain issues. In 2005, the SEC

examined auditors’ working paper of 66 IPO

companies. Of these, 19 were ordered to correct their

financial statements before IPO execution, resulting

in the total assets of these companies to decline by

352 million baht, total liabilities to increase by 25

million baht and net profit down by 29 million baht.

Supervision of Independent

Professionals

Financial Advisor

The SEC requires that only financial advisors on

the SEC’s approved list be involved in advising,

providing opinions and preparing documents for the

application for securities issuance and offering. As

of December 31, 2005, the total number of approved

financial advisors was 71, four of which were newly

accredited.

unit: number of companies

Review of Quarterly and Annual Financial Statements 2004 2005

Reviewed financial statements 298 297

Analyzed by independent experts - 9

Submitted to steering groups 13 10

Ordered to do special audit 1 4

Ordered to rectify in the next accounting period 3 7

Ordered to make corrections 8 9

Note:  Number of listed companies as of December 31, 2005 was 468.
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Owing to considerable demands of companies

wishing to offer newly issued common shares to the

public and become listed companies on the SET in

time in order to receive tax privileges that will be

expired by the end of 2005, the SEC cooperated with

the SET in preparation for the concentration of IPO

applications at the end of the year.

Since financial advisors play a key role in speeding

up the process of application consideration, the SEC

issued a circular letter to financial advisors requesting

them to carefully screen the quality and readiness of

IPO companies by focusing on preparations in four

key areas as follows:

(1) Transparent shareholding structure to avoid

conflicts of interest;

(2) Fair connected transactions;

(3) Sufficient internal control system; and

(4) Creditability and accuracy of financial

statements.

The SEC also provided a due diligence checklist to

facilitate and accelerate financial advisors’ working

procedure.

In considering misconduct of financial advisors, the

SEC has set up standard procedures that ensure

clarity, transparency and fairness and appointed a

Panel of Experts on Consideration of Suitability

of Financial Advisors’ Performance to provide

professional consultancy and suggestions to the

SEC.

Property Valuer

The SEC requires that information concerning

property value of securities issuers and listed

companies disclosed to the public under the SEC

Act be provided only by property appraisal

companies on the SEC’s approved list. As of

December 31, 2005, there were 43 property

appraisal companies on the SEC’s approved list, 12

of which were new grantees.

To tackle the issue of inappropriate actions by

property appraisal companies, the SEC appointed

a Steering Group for the Consideration of

Property Appraisers’ Performance to provide

professional advice and suggestions for the SEC’s

decision making.

Auditor

The SEC works closely with the FAP to consider

qualifications and approval for capital market auditors

whose opinions can have material effects on

stakeholders. The SEC, for this reason, puts much

weight on the supervision and promotion of auditors’

professional performance according to acceptable

auditing standards.

In case of auditing errors, the SEC will take different,

appropriate actions from giving advice or warnings

to ordering correction or suspending auditors’

approvals, depending on the degrees of misconduct.

As of December 31, 2005, there were 94 auditors

on the SEC’s approved list, three of which were

newly approved.

Takeover Supervision

To ensure that shareholders of companies raising

funds in the capital market are properly protected in

case of takeover, the SEC has proposed

amendments to the SEC Act with respect to

(1) the “act in concert” methodology, which will be

used in considering duties of disclosure and making
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tender offer and (2) the “anti-takeover” provision to

prevent company executives from obstructing

legitimate takeovers. The amendments are under the

consideration of the Ministry of Finance.

In 2005, there were 18 tender offers for business

takeovers, the majority of which were between

businesses in the same or related sectors such as

financial services, banking, insurance and

Supervision of Takeovers in 2005

Tender Offers/Waivers No. of Cases

Tender offers for business takeovers 18

Granted waivers: 19

(1) No changes in control 10

(2) Rehabilitation 5

(3) White wash 1

(4) Others 3

Waivers of tender offer procedures or methodologies 5

telecommunications, for the purpose of business

expansion. The total purchasing value of tender

offers was 8.6 billion baht. Most waivers of tender

offers were share purchases or transfers for the

purpose of restructuring companies in the same

groups. These kinds of takeovers did not impose

changes in control and, therefore, were granted

waivers.
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Intermediaries

Achievements

• Strengthened checks and balances mechanism

of securities companies through independent

directors

• Granted LBDU license

• Relaxed supervisory regulations imposed

on securities companies to accommodate

group-structured businesses and international

practices

• Spearheaded measures to prevent and eliminate

market rumors and price manipulation through

securities companies and drafted regulations on

securities companies acting as a facilitator for

money laundering

• Inspected securities companies based on RBA

• Issued rules and regulations on the approval of

investor contacts under a single registration

regime

• Provided standard of conduct guidelines for

investor contacts who provide information to

the media to ensure sound advice and due

responsibilities

In This Chapter

• Investor protection

• Issuance and development of supervisory

regulations

• Service expansion of securities business

operators

• Supervision and inspection

• Licensing and approval

What We Do

• Enhance good CG of capital market

intermediaries in the areas of management

and service offering

• Grant licenses and supervise securities brokers,

dealers, underwriters and advisors

• Examine various risk exposures of intermediaries

• Approve and supervise investor contacts type

A (analyzing activities) and type B (dealing

activities)

Investor Protection

Better Corporate Governance through

Investor Protection Mechanism

To ensure efficient reviewing and a robust checks

and balances mechanism for the boards of directors

of securities companies, the SEC requires that all

securities companies appoint independent directors

to fill in a quarter of the total number of company

directors by 2007. The SEC also initiated a knowledge

enhancement program for independent directors to

build a better understanding about the operational

review of securities companies and raise awareness

of their roles and responsibilities to company goals

and expectations.

In addition, to assist individual investors who are

affected by intermediaries’ services in settling

their disputes through a rapid and cost-effective

arbitration procedure, the SEC urged the Association

of Securities Companies (ASCO) to encourage its

members to participate in the legal procedure.

Currently, 12 securities firms and four asset

management companies have expressed their

readiness for dispute settlement through arbitration.
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Monitoring and Supervision of Investor

Contacts Who Provide Information to the

Media

Investment advice via media channels such as

television, radio, website, newspaper and

seminar tends to cause direct and material

impacts on investors’ decision-making. To ensure

appropriateness of such advice, the SEC therefore

requires securities companies to render active

cooperation in screening and submitting the name

lists of their qualified investor contacts who provide

investment advice via the media. As of December

31, 2005, there were 184 qualified investor contacts

from 40 securities companies as disseminated on the

SEC’s website.

To ensure reliable investment advice, the SEC also

urges qualified investor contacts to exercise their

best judgment and knowledge, and on a reasonable

ground before making market comments. Securities

companies must prohibit a release of such particularly

specific stock to any person prior to public

dissemination.

On the Internet channel, webmasters and website

owners diligently cooperated with the SEC to prevent

the online media from being exploited as a forum for

market rumors. In 2004, the SEC launched an anti-

rumor campaign successfully, resulting in active

participation from every party involved. The quality

of contents posted on web boards has been improved

in terms of language usage with fewer rumors and

less groundless solicitation while inappropriate

contents are deleted as soon as they are detected.

As to other media channels, the majority of

investment advisors and securities companies are

careful and discreet in screening accurate and

appropriate information for dissemination to the public

at large.

Issuance and Development of
Supervisory Regulations

Reclassification of Investor Contacts

Investor Contacts in Securities Business

Under the former classification of market

professionals based on types of securities, investor

contacts were required to obtain approval for each

type of securities such as equity marketing officer,

fixed income marketing officer and mutual fund sales

person. This practice is redundant for multiple

applications for several types of securities, each

governed by different rules and regulations. Thus, to

facilitate operation of market professionals and

prepare for potential versatility of securities products,

the SEC reclassified the categories of investor

contacts under a single registration structure covering

the tasks of selling, advising and planning securities

investment.

As of July 1, 2005, investor contacts are divided into

two categories: investor contact type A who

performs securities analysis function, and investor

contact type B who performs functions of selling,

contacting, soliciting and advising on securities

investment. Additionally, the SEC set up an objective-

based code of conduct and operational guidelines

for each objective.
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The restructuring of investor contact categories also

involved the migration of all approved persons under

the previous regime to the standard classification.

This include training program for investor contacts to

upgrade their knowledge and enhance the proficiency

of their performances. The SEC formulated a training

program that will further educate investor contacts of

all kinds of investment instruments under the single

registration regime to ensure a full range of quality

services to investors.

Investor Contacts in Derivatives Business

In preparation for the launch of the derivatives market

in 2006, the SEC issued regulations pertaining to

approval of derivatives personnel. In the initial stage,

investor contacts in the securities business who have

already attended the training course on product and

regulatory knowledge of derivatives business and

have a minimum two-year experience are allowed to

apply for a temporary approval as derivatives investor

contact. However, starting from January 1, 2007, all

applicants are required to pass the examination in

order to acquire such approval. This arrangement will

supply sufficient personnel for the derivatives market

in its introductory stage. Derivatives investor contacts

are divided into the same two categories as their

counterparts in the securities sector.

Elevating Knowledge and Professional

Ethics of Investor Contacts

Owing to their direct and close contact with their

clients, investor contacts play a pivotal role in building

investor confidence in the capital market. To support

its oversight, in 2005 the SEC initiated a continual

educational program to enhance industry knowledge

and professional ethics for the operational

improvement of investor contacts. Several measures

were implemented, including:

1. Standardized examinations: Applicants for the

investor contact approval must pass the

examinations formulated and supervised by the

SEC. The Investor Contact Curriculum and

Examination Working Group was appointed

comprising securities business specialists,

academic scholars and the SEC representatives.

The working group is responsible for designing

the syllabi, considering suitability of the contents,

setting testing schedules and grading criteria and

reviewing the examinations periodically to keep

pace with the changing market environments. In

2005, the working group completed the standard

examinations for investor contacts type B in the

securities and derivatives businesses.

2. Regulatory knowledge courses: To keep

investor contacts abreast of market updates

and developments, the SEC requires that

investor contacts take a refresher course once

every two years to maintain their legitimate status.

To assure clear and accurate inputs, the SEC

representatives give lectures on professional

ethics and standards of conducts with an

emphasis on case studies of securities law

violations and punishments. In 2005, there

were the total of 6,488 course enrollers in the

securities knowledge course and 4,432 in the

derivatives knowledge course offered for the first

time in 2005.

Supporting Compliance with Anti-Money

Laundering Law

Since 2004, the SEC has taken several steps to

support securities business operators in complying

with the law governing the prevention and
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suppression of money laundering to ensure that such

operators will not be exploited as a channel for illegal

businesses. Throughout the year 2005, the SEC

drafted amendments to regulations in response to

and in compliance with the anti-money laundering

law. The amendments are expected to take

effect in 2006.

Securities Borrowing and Lending

In 2005, the SEC conducted a public hearing on the

amendments of regulations governing the SBL to

ensure that investors in the capital and derivatives

markets will be able to benefit from such transactions

and reduce investment risks more effectively.

Preparing Securities Companies for Free

Trade Agreement

In 2005, the SEC discussed with the ASCO to

analyze potential impacts on securities business

operators if the FTA is materialized. In this

connection, the SEC advised securities companies

to diversify their revenue sources among varieties

of services and reduce their dependency on

commission fees from securities trading as was

generally the case in the local securities industry at

present in order to strengthen competitiveness of

local securities companies.

Service Expansion of Securities
Business Operators

Limited Brokerage, Dealing and

Underwriting License

In the past, the selling and redeeming of investment

units had to be done through asset management

companies or investment units selling agents

appointed by such companies to perform the

brokerage activity. To streamline their business

engagement, the SEC initiated a new license

of brokerage, dealing and underwriting for investment

units called “limited brokerage, dealing and

underwriting: LBDU” in an effort to expand the scope

of services in dealing and underwriting. As of April 1,

2005, investment units selling agents were required

to obtain a LBDU license. Throughout the year, the

SEC granted such license to 16 financial institutions.

In the dealing of investment units under LBDU

license, the licensees are allowed to quote bid and

offer prices freely. To assure fairness for all investors,

the SEC stipulated that investment units dealers must

disclose to investors their bid and offer prices as well

as trading conditions (if any).In addition, the dealers

can reject investors’ bid and offer prices only if such

term is clearly stated in the selling/buying conditions,

in which case such dealers must provide reasons for

the rejection.

Appointment of Individuals as Investment

Units Selling Agents

To provide the public with a wider access to

investment units through other channels than investor

contacts of asset management companies, the SEC

allows the individual selling agent appointed by such

companies to buy and sell investment units to

investors. In 2005, the SEC further permitted LBDU

licensees to appoint individuals as investment units

selling agents as well. Such permission helped to

accommodate companies with few permanent staff

such as life insurance companies to have more

distribution channel. However, principals still have the

obligation to monitor and supervise such individual

selling agents in the same manner as they do with

their own employees.
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Types of Inspection No. of Securities Companies

RBA 18

• Routine inspection 16

• Follow-up inspection 2

Theme inspection 28

Licensing and Approval

Securities Brokers and Dealers

License/Approval As of As of

Dec. 31, 2004 Dec. 31, 2005

Securities brokerage license 39 41

Securities dealing license 40 39

Securities underwriting license 39 40

LBDU license - 16

SBL license 9 11

Securities financing license 1 1

Executives of securities companies 107 86

Major shareholders of securities companies 32 28

Supervision and Inspection

In 2005, the SEC inspected 18 securities companies

in line with supervisory standards, emphasizing the

RBA. The findings indicated that most of the

operations in contravention of relevant laws involved

conflicts of interest and deficiency in preventive

measures on confidentiality of information (Chinese

Wall). Since the RBA implementation is still in its

preliminary stage, the SEC takes such inspection

results into account in its reviews of regulations on

risk assessments for further improvements.

In addition, the SEC conducted a theme inspection

on 28 securities companies in the areas concerning

preventive measures and systems of internal control

over price manipulation and market rumors.

Companies not equipped with such system or running

an ineffective operating mechanism were ordered

to revise such system and/or be penalized according

to relevant laws.
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The securities industry generated continual growth throughout 2005 as reflected in the two new brokerage

licenses and two SBL licenses granted to securities companies in the year.

In addition, two securities companies were granted permission to reactivate their brokerage licenses after

their temporary cessation; one licensee was Kasikorn Securities Plc. in April 2005 after Kasikorn Bank Plc.

acquired the brokerage business of Asset Plus Securities Plc. and changed the company name to Kasikorn

Securities Plc. in December 2004; the other was Advance Securities Co., Ltd. in August 2005 whose name

was later changed to Merchant Partners Securities Co., Ltd. in September 2005.

In addition, the SEC granted permission for reactivation of one dealing license and three underwriting licenses

and allow BNP Paribas Peregrine (Thailand) Ltd. to temporarily cease its securities business after the company

repositioned itself as a business partner of Thanachart Securities Plc.

In 2005, the number of securities investor contacts increased by 4,423 compared to the previous year. Investor

contact type B grew in multitude, particularly those applicants from the securities traders who are required

to be registered under the new approval criteria if client contact capacity is desired.

Investor Contacts

A summary of approved investor contacts for securities and derivatives businesses is as follows:

Securities Derivatives

2005 1/ Change 2005 1/

Type A 865 +468 (117.89%) 2

Type B 23,478 2/ +3,955 (20.26%) 393

Total 24,343 +4,423 (22.21%) 395

Notes: 1/ Accumulated total as of December 31.
2/ Including investor contacts migrating from the former classification structure.

unit: persons

Investor Contact
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“Pha Som Pak”:  The gifts from the kings

Traditionally, this kind of fabric is a gift from the kings to noblemen

and dignitaries, thus signifying the wearers’ social and political ranks.

With soft, light and smooth texture, this silk cloth is considered the

finest fabric tribute from the Cambodian Court to the Kings of Siam.
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Asset Management

53

Achievements

• Promoted good CG of listed companies by way

of proxy voting of asset management companies

and information disclosure of such voting at the

shareholder meetings

• Revised regulations on capital adequacy

maintenance and mandated professional

indemnity insurance

• Revised regulations on debt instrument

investment focusing on product quality and

accessibility

• Permitted investments in structured products and

off-shore securities

• Launched an SAQ to be used as a risk

management tool

• Initiated the quarterly compliance meeting to

facilitate mutual cooperation and communication

• Enhanced provident fund committees’ knowledge

and understanding of good CG

• Issued regulations on provident fund NAV

verification

• Revised regulations on provident fund auditors

In this Chapter

• Asset management supervision

- Overview

- Approval for innovative types of funds

- Revision of asset management regulations

- Mandatory proxy voting of asset management

companies

- Self-assessment questionnaire

- Inspection of asset management companies

- Quarterly compliance meeting

• Provident fund management supervision

- Developments in 2005

- Amendment to the Provident Fund Act B.E.

2530

- Issuance and revision of related regulations

What We Do

• Elevate CG of asset management companies in

the areas of business administration and fund

management and promote good CG among listed

firms and the capital market at large

• Grant licenses and supervise securities and

derivatives business operators in the

management of mutual funds, private funds,

derivatives and venture capital

• Authorize mutual fund schemes and develop

innovative funds

• Approve and supervise fund managers, fund

supervisors and custodians
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Approval for Innovative Types of Funds

The SEC has supported the establishment of

innovative types of mutual funds to encourage

the general public to invest more through asset

management professionals and accommodate their

different demands more appropriately. Investment

opportunities are also diversified through

multinational capital flow. To achieve such objectives

in 2005, the SEC approved new types of funds as

follows:

Asset Management Supervision

Overview: Asset Management Businesses in 2005

2004 2005

                      Types NAV NAV

No. of Funds (million baht) No. of Funds (million baht)

Mutual fund* 416 484,979 584 775,392

Private fund 1,529 134,751 1,390 142,381

Provident fund 556 305,462 542 345,896

Note: * Excluding Property Fund for Resolving Financial Institutions Problems (Type II Fund), Mutual Fund for Resolving Financial Institutions

Problems (Type III Fund), and Property and Loan Fund (Type IV Fund), and Country Fund.

Licensing/Approval of Asset Management Businesses

           Licensing/Approval As of Dec. 31, 2004 As of Dec. 31, 2005

Mutual fund management 17 18

Private fund management* 29 30

Derivatives management 1 6

Custodian 8 13

NAV verifier - 11

Fund supervisor 7 10

Executives of asset management companies 509 562

Mutual fund manager 194 212

Private fund manager 142 145

Derivatives fund manager - 2

Note: * including provident fund management
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Exchange-Traded Fund

Listed on an exchange, Exchange-Traded

Funds (ETF) are managed passively by way of

representative sampling to achieve returns on

the fund assets that closely track the returns of the

reference index. To ensure that the fund performance

will best reflect the index movement and will not

cause adverse impacts on securities in the portfolio,

asset management companies are allowed to

create and redeem units principally in-kind at the

NAV. Only authorized participants who sell or buy

units worth more than 10 million baht are allowed to

request the asset management companies to create

and/or redeem fund units while retail investors can

buy or sell units through the exchange.

Asian Bond Fund 2

Following the successful launch of the Asian Bond

Fund I, the Executives’ Meeting of East Asia and

Pacific Central Banks (EMEAP) agreed to set up the

USD2 billion ABF2 of which USD110 million was

allocated to the ABF Thailand Bond Index Fund. This

sub-fund was the first ETF in Thailand, managed by

Kasikorn Asset Management Co., Ltd. The ABF2 is

scheduled for listing on the Bond Electronic Exchange

(BEX) in April 2006.

The EMEAP comprises 11 central banks and

monetary authorities in East Asia and Pacific, namely

Australia, China, Hong Kong, Indonesia, Japan,

Malaysia, New Zealand, the Philippines, Singapore,

South Korea and Thailand.

Tsunami Fund

Tsunami Fund is a mutual fund for institutional

investors. It is set up for the investment in securities

of Tsunami-affected businesses in the six southern

provinces in Thailand. The fund can (1) invest directly

in target businesses of both listed and non-listed

companies, (2) invest as a private equity by

appointing its representatives to sit on the board of

directors of the invested companies, and (3) must

invest within two years starting from the registration

date of the fund.

Revision of Asset Management

Regulations

Capital Adequacy Maintenance and

Professional Indemnity Insurance

In 2005, the SEC amended regulations on capital

adequacy by requiring asset management

companies to maintain a minimum shareholder’s

equity of 20 million baht as of the last business day

of each month. In the case of shareholder’s equity

ranging from 20 million baht to 30 million baht as

of the last business day of any month, asset

management companies must report such

information to the SEC including an action plan to

restore shareholder’s equity to above 30 million baht.

In addition, asset management companies are

required to have an appropriate indemnity insurance

against errors, omission and frauds of their directors

and staff. For example, if a company has the total

net asset value of all funds under its management

more than 25 billion baht with the shareholder’s

equity less than 220 million baht, the company

must have an insurance policy worth not less than

the difference of 220 million baht subtracted by the

shareholder’s equity.
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Offshore Investment for Mutual Funds and

Provident Funds

Following the BOT approval of a USD500 million

allocation for mutual funds and provident funds

investing aboard, the SEC issued criteria for

distributing such quota to asset management

companies based on their capacity and readiness.

To establish a robust foundation for offshore

investment, the SEC issued a regulation on

investment in foreign securities. To specify, shares,

investment units or debt securities must be traded

in countries whose securities regulators or

exchanges are members of the IOSCO or the

World Federations of Exchange. In case of debt

securities, they must be of investment grade quality.

In this respect, asset management companies must

maintain investment limit as specified by the SEC

and take into account the accessibility of target

securities information provided in English language

via the Internet.

Furthermore, foreign mutual funds those are eligible

for investment must invest in the same types of

securities or assets as those allowed for direct

investment by local funds. Mutual funds and

provident funds are also allowed to invest in offshore

funds that invest in gold, whether it be partial or total

investment of the NAV.

In addition, the SEC facilitates offshore investment

management by allowing asset management

companies to outsource their fund management

functions to foreign asset management companies

on the condition that the delegated companies must

be supervised by IOSCO member regulators.

Investment in Structured Products of

Mutual Funds and Provident Funds

To accommodate investors’ demands on innovative

financial instruments that base returns on referential

index, the SEC permitted mutual funds and

provident funds to invest in structured products on

the condition that investment management

companies employ a risk management system

that properly balances risk exposure and investment

returns. An operational system regarding the

criteria and methodology for fair valuation and

accounting practice must also be put in place and in

compliance with accounting standards while product

structure and features must be disclosed to

investors.

Debt Instrument Investment Regulations

To assure the quality and liquidity of funds’ portfolio

investments, the SEC revised the regulations on

debt instruments which are permissible for mutual

funds, private funds and provident funds. The new

regulation categorizes the permissible products into

two groups as follows:

1. Near bank deposit debt instruments; and

2. Marketable debt instruments; in case of

non-government products, the following criteria

must be met:

2.1 Register with the ThaiBMA;

2.2 Have a bid firm price quote or appropriated

price from the ThaiBMA; and

2.3 Have investment grade rated by the SEC’s

approved credit rating agencies, if not,

must be bought by at least three asset

management companies.
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Long Term Equity Fund Regulation

The SEC amended long term equity fund regulation

regarding dividend payment to enhance operational

flexibility. As such, asset management companies are

allowed to pay dividends when the fund generates

accumulated profit and such payment will not result

in accumulated loss in the accounting period of the

payment.

Improvement of Mutual Fund Prospectus

The SEC requires more clarity in mutual fund

prospectus; details must be accurate, clear and

intelligible for investors to make informed

investment decisions and for selling agents to

peruse as reference. In addition, to ensure

investment objectives of such funds will be

achieved, the prospectus must include a fund fact

sheet, summarizing key features in the form of

questions and answers, presented in a plain,

easy-to-understand language for the investing

public at large. Also, the investment status must be

summarized and presented in product categories

according to the investment policies.

Mandatory Proxy Voting of Asset

Management Companies

The SEC has mandated proxy voting of asset

management companies on behalf of shareholders

of listed companies. The aim is to protect

investors ’ interest and shareholders ’ right to

decide on major transactions of material impacts

on shareholders or share value. This practice, in turn,

will safeguard the best interest of the funds and

oversee performance of listed company executives.

The proxy voting guidelines and details must be

disclosed and accessible for investors’ review.

Self-Assessment Questionnaire

A risk management tool for asset management

firms, the SAQ  provides a comprehensive and

standard evaluation of risk management system and

internal control. It also assists the SEC in analyzing,

evaluating and monitoring risk exposure of asset

management companies at intervals of regular

on-site inspection. The SEC requires asset

management companies to fill in, update and submit

the SAQ to the SEC annually or whenever there are

significant changes of information.

On October 28, 2005, the SEC invited

representatives from more than 30 mutual fund and

private fund management licensees to attend an

SAQ briefing to clarify the project objectives,

methodology and related information.

Inspection of Asset Management

Companies

In 2005, the SEC inspected five asset management

companies using RBA. The inspections covered

such areas as contravention of laws, deficiency of

operating system in areas of customer relations and

investment management, credibility of information

recording system, conflicts of interest, capital

adequacy maintenance, internal control procedures

and the overall compliance culture. As a result, the

SEC ordered the inspected companies to rectify their

operating and internal control systems, mostly in

the areas of roles and responsibilities of investment

committees, clarification of outlines for investment

in different types of assets, and adequacy and

suitability of risk management tools, operational

control and IT security control, and adequate

checks and balances system. Additionally, the

companies required to conduct an internal audit
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that covers all significant issues and staff

supervision and then report the result to their boards

of directors.

To assure transparency and fairness of

administrative sanctions imposed on fund

managers, the SEC also set up the Fund Manager

Disciplinary Committee to provide recommendation

and consultation.

Quarterly Compliance Meeting

To promote compliance culture within asset

management companies, in the fourth quarter of 2005

the SEC held the first Quarterly Compliance

Meeting. The objective is to assist asset

management practitioners in maintaining their

business efficiency under the ever-changing market

environment. The first meeting agenda focused on

policies, regulatory compliance, the improvement of

two-way communication between the regulator and

the regulated. The meeting platform helps to promote

the private sector ’s cooperative role in the

development of asset management business. In the

compliance context, this regular gathering helps to

stimulate idea sharing and study of effective

compliance unit approaches toward better CG of

the management industry.

Provident Fund Management
Supervision

As the registrar of provident funds, the SEC has duty

to register new funds, amend the fund articles and

provide comments and advice concerning rights and

duties of provident fund members as prescribed in

the fund articles. As of December 31, 2005, there

were 20 provident fund management companies and

11 NAV verifiers.

Provident Fund Status

As of Dec. 31, 2004 As of Dec. 31, 2005 Change

NAV (million baht) 305,462 345,896 +40,434 (13.23%)

No. of provident funds 556 542 -14 (-2.52%)

No. of employers 6,306 7,064 +758 (12.02%)

No. of members 1,518,955 1,665,709 +146,754 (9.66%)

Average NAV per member (baht) 201,100 207,657 +6,557 (3.26%)
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Government bonds, treasury bills, debt instruments 
issued by state enterprises and debt instruments 
guaranteed by the Ministry of Finance

Developments in 2005

Fund Committee Fundamental Course

The educational program for provident fund

committees (FC) is a practical addition to the

developmental progress of the industry. The SEC

laid out a standard curriculum for the FC

Fundamental Course to elevate investment

knowledge and understanding of fund management,

roles and responsibilities of relevant parties such as

fund managers, custodians and the registrar.

The SEC (1) appointed a working group comprising

representatives from the AIMC, the AOP, and the

TSI, (2) outlined the course curriculum, and

(3) contributed 300,000 baht for the program

launch. The SEC approved the FC Fundamental

Course in October 2005 and introduced it to the

public at a seminar entitled  “The New Age of the

Provident Fund Committee.” The course is open for

the interested public starting from January 2006.

Investment Proportion of Provident Funds
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Online Information Channel

The SEC has provided website www.thaipvd.com

as an online channel to educate and communicate

with provident fund members and the public. The

web contents cover relevant laws and regulations,

lists of service providers, online viewer enquiries,

monthly newsletter e-subscription and the weekly

column, “Here is the Answer,” which compiles and

summarizes useful information in the Q&A format. In

2005, the column ran 132 Q’s & A’s.

Fund Committee Contact Person

To keep provident fund personnel abreast of market

news and information, regulatory developments and

amendments, the SEC initiated the “FC contact

Person” project to create another communication

channel. As such, each provident fund employer

will delegate a contact person for receiving

aforementioned inputs via e-mail and sharing them

with fund committees and members.

Amendment to Provident Fund Act B.E.

2530

The SEC has proposed an amendment to the

Provident Fund Act to promote and facilitate continual

retirement savings through provident funds. Specific

issues include (1) permission for fund transfer from

Government Pension Fund to provident fund,

(2) acceptance of providing provident fund members

with the choice of receiving accrued benefit either

as a lump sum or in the form of an income stream

after retirement, and (3) improvement of provident

fund structure to facilitate “employee’s choice” by

setting up the legal framework for a master fund.

The Cabinet has agreed in principle with the

amendment proposals. The draft act is in the

consideration process of the Council of State.

Concurrently, the Ministry of Finance has announced

a policy to establish the National Pension Fund as a

mandatory retirement saving plan for all employees

nationwide. The SEC has studied all aspects of

potential impacts and prepared for the amendment

of the Provident Fund Act to accommodate the

future National Pension Fund.

Issuance and Revision of Provident

Fund Management Regulations

Apart from the regulatory amendments to asset

management business, the SEC issued and revised

regulations governing provident fund management

as follows:

NAV Verification

As the current practice, asset management

companies have a duty to calculate the NAV

of the funds under their management based on the

mark-to-market standard set by the AIMC and

approved by the SEC. However, their calculations

are not cross-checked by a third party for accuracy

and regulatory compliance. The NAV information

is crucial for calculating member benefits and fund

manager performance.

To ensure fair and accurate NAV of provident funds,

the SEC requires asset management companies

to appoint an NAV verifier to certify the NAV of the

provident funds under their management. The NAV

verifier is a third party; a mutual fund supervisor or a

private fund custodian who is well-equipped with an

NAV verification system and registered with the SEC.

Starting from January 1, 2006, newly registered

provident funds must comply with this rule. The

currently active funds must do so upon the renewal

of their custodian contracts. For contracts without

specific due date, the rule will be applied as of July

1, 2006.
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Provident Fund Auditor

Normally, provident funds must appoint an auditor

from the SEC’s approved list except for the funds

having not more than 100 members that are allowed

to appoint certified public accountants. To increase

flexibility and reduce operational expenses, the

SEC amended the requirement by extending the

exception for small-sized funds of not more than

100 million baht on the condition that they must seek

approval for such appointment from their members.

Approval of Initial Fund Transfer to

Provident Fund

The SEC proposed a lead-time for employers to

transfer their employee retirement funds set up

before 1987 into provident funds within December

30, 2005, as officially announced later in a

ministerial regulation of the Ministry of Finance.

As a result, 128 employers submitted their

transfer requests and received approval from the

SEC for the amount of 22,861 million baht.

Pricing Policy of Management Fees and

Costs

The SEC advised provident fund management

companies not to charge management fees lower

than its operating costs. This is to encourage

more concentration on service quality than price

competition. In this respect, the SEC suggested that

the AIMC propose standards of cost allocation

particularly indirect cost, for each type of provident

fund providers to provide comparable costs within

the industry. Therefore a fair presentation of

financial statement for their provident fund business

is crucial to this effort.

Improvement of Performance Benchmark

The SEC urged the AIMC to disclose provident

fund performance based on a reference benchmark

classified by investment policies. This is to provide

provident fund members with a practical tool for

laying out investment policies that best suit their

individual risk tolerance and expected returns.

The AIMC is in the process of amending the

benchmark regulation.
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Enforcement

Achievements

• Investigated 55 cases, the majority of which

involved market manipulation, corporate fraud and

insider trading

• Presented 48 cases to the Settlement

Committee, who ordered 62 offenders to pay the

total penalty fine of 15.28 million baht. The

proceeds have been remitted to the Ministry of

Finance

• Filed six criminal complaints with criminal

authorities against a number of persons,

including some former executives of listed

companies

In This Chapter

• Securities market surveillance

- Securities trading on the SET

- Information disclosure of listed companies

• Investigation

- Unfair securities trading practices

Market manipulation

False or misleading information

Insider trading

Corporate frauds/listed company executives’

malpractice

Others

• Law enforcement

- Administrative proceedings

- Criminal proceedings

What We Do

• Investigate possible contraventions of the SEC

Act

• Take action against wrongdoers through

administrative and criminal proceedings

• Cooperate with local and foreign regulators in

promoting information exchange and developing

investigative procedures and law enforcement

Securities Market Surveillance

Securities Trading on the SET

The SEC has empowered the SET as the front-line

regulator. This is to ensure the efficiency, fairness,

and orderliness of the market. The SET conducted

real-time surveillance on trading activities on the

exchange. Special attentions are on those involving

the newly listed securities, or securities that are

subject to additional measures ordered by the SET,

or securities that have unusual movements of prices

and volumes.

In 2005, the SET actively imposed certain measures

including prohibition of net settlement and margin

trading limit against a number of securities. This

objective is to prevent or cease irregular activities on

the exchange.  When such irregularities continue to

persist, in spite of the special measures taken by the

SET, the SEC would concurrently conduct an on-site

inspection of securities companies that may have

been involved in the dissemination of market rumors

or their participation in the suspicious trading orders.

The ad-hoc inspection typically covered a review of

customers’ trading information and customers’ credit

line.
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The SEC has also specifically instructed securities

companies to implement certain preventive

measures including the know-your-customer

procedure, criteria for credit line approval and

retention of complete record of investment advice

given to their customers as well as trading orders

placed by the customers. In addition, the SEC urged

directors and officers of securities companies to

closely monitor the customers’ trading behaviors and

the services provided by their own employees for a

strict adherence to the laws.

In 2005, the SEC conducted two ad-hoc inspections

on 12 securities companies.

For market information, the SEC prepared and

published a weekly securities turnover list on

its website. This is to provide securities trading

information as well as basic warning for investors and

brokers against risks associated with the securities

published on the list while offering the SET with a

start-off data for transaction monitoring.

Information Disclosure of Listed

Companies

In 2005, the SEC intensified its efforts to cease

market rumor spreads and premature disclosure

of information that was yet to be disseminated

officially through the SET. Since such information

could influence investors’ decision-making, whenever

detected, the SEC would cooperate with the SET

to ensure that the related listed companies would

disclose a clear and accurate information to the

investing public.  By the end of 2005, the SEC and

the SET had co-handled 150 cases of inappropriate

information disclosures.

Investigation

In response to the alerts arose from its own

surveillance and oversight programs, news

monitoring, public complaints and referrals from the

SET or other domestic and foreign authorities,

the SEC conducted 55 formal investigations as

summarized below:

  Types of Offenses No. of Cases

Market manipulation 16

Corporate frauds 15

Information disclosure 6

False or misleading statement 2

Insider trading 10

Issuance and offering of securities 5

Unlicensed securities business 1

Total 55

Investigation of Possible Contraventions Under the SEC Act
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Unfair Securities Trading Practices

Market Manipulation

In 2005, the SEC investigated 16 cases of share price

manipulation, the increased number comparing to

merely 10 cases in the previous year. Of these,

four cases were finalized while the rest are still

under investigation processes.

Most of these violations involved small-capitalized

shares with an average trading prices ranging from

0.79 to 26.71 baht per share and usually coupling

with market rumor spreads. These small-capitalized

shares were vulnerable to price manipulation

because it was easy and inexpensive to maneuver

the prices and trading volumes of low-priced shares.

Increasingly, price manipulation has become more

complicated and involved extended parties.  In

consequence, evidences and witnesses have

proliferated, causing investigative procedures and

offense proving to become more time-and-effort

consuming.

False or Misleading Statement

The SEC investigated two cases of false or

misleading statements.  One of them was a case

where an executive of Pan Asia Footwear Plc. was

allegedly withholding material information about

the company’s financial condition and performance

from the shareholders. This has distorted the

decision-making during the approval of the company

capital increase. In this case, the Settlement

Committee ordered such executive to pay the total

penalty fine of 500,000 baht.

Insider Trading

In 2005, the SEC investigated 10 cases of suspicious

insider trading, most of which were referrals from

the SET.  Among them, 3 cases were dropped due to

the lack of sufficient evidence and one case is in the

process of taking legal action against wrongdoers.

Corporate Fraud

In continuance with the proactive enhancement of

corporate governance among listed companies, the

SEC investigated 15 corporate fraud cases in 2005.

Most of these cases were detected by the SEC’s own

surveillance program. Four were already finalized,

two of which were referred to criminal authorities as

follows:

(1) The first complaint is allegedly against former

executives of Picnic Corporation Plc. as having

dishonestly misappropriated company’s assets to

obtain unlawful gains for themselves or a third

party, overstated the company’s revenues and

profits in the financial statements and falsified

documents and accounts regarding loan contracts

with other juristic persons.

(2) The second complaint is allegedly against

former executives of Daidomon Group Plc. as

having falsified company’s documents and

accounts regarding the company’s financial

condition to mislead shareholders and investors.

{X1} Plc.
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Others

The SEC took actions against persons who did not

file a report or filed an inaccurate report of their

shareholding with the SEC.  All cases centered on

the fact that these persons made their securities

For the enforcement action against unlicensed

securities business or boiler room/cold calling

operation, though it believes that most illegal

operators had already closed their offices in

Thailand, the SEC continues its closely monitoring

control and promptly conducts thorough

investigation once complaints or referrals of

Case        Offenders    Offenses Fine (baht)

1 Lam Soon Plc. Failure to disclose acquisition of shares of Universal 140,700

Food Plc.

2 Six executives of Singha Paratech Plc. Failure to disclose trading of SINGHA shares 2,037,600

(“SINGHA”)

3 Turaround Co., Ltd. Failure to disclose securities trading of Siam General 1,094,500

Factoring Plc.

suspicious operation in the jurisdiction are

received.  In 2004 continuing to 2005, the SEC

investigated and filed criminal complaints with

criminal authorities against Data Resources Asia

Co., Ltd., which representing itself as Gulf Pacific

Asset Management Ltd., for illegally soliciting

investors to invest in securities.

trading through undisclosed nominees. The

Settlement Committee imposed the fine in each

case as follows:

{X3} Plc.

{X2} Plc. {X2} Plc.

{X4} Co., Ltd.

{X5} Co., Ltd.,
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Law Enforcement

Administrative Proceedings

The SEC imposed various measures such as notices

for rectification, warning, probation and suspension

or revocation of approvals upon regulated persons

Types of Offenses Warning Probation Suspension Revocation

       Approved Persons

Securities company Failure to supervise and examine the 3

executives employees’ conduct to ensure the

compliance with laws and regulations

Selling agents Failure to supervise the employees’ 1

conduct to ensure the compliance

with laws and regulations

Investor contacts Embezzlement of client assets 4

Front running/making unauthorized 43 8 13

trading decision/trading securities

using clients accounts

Financial advisors Negligence/breach of duty 4

Property valuers Negligence/breach of duty 1

Auditors Negligence/breach of duty 1 1

Criminal Proceedings

Settlement

In 2005, the SEC presented 48 cases involving

62 offenders to the Settlement Committee. The total

fine of 15,283,106.25 baht imposed by the

that were found guilty, noncompliant, unqualified or

violating securities laws and regulations. A summary

of the administrative orders issued in 2005 is as

follows:

Settlement Committee was remitted to the Ministry

of Finance.
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Criminal Proceedings

In 2005, the SEC filed six criminal complaints to criminal authorities as follows:

Sections of No. of

Types of Offenses Companies Violation Subjected

Persons

Unlicensed securities business (1) Data Resources Asia Co., Ltd. 90 2

Corporate fraud and document and (2) Picnic Corporation Plc. 307, 308, 311, 10

accounting falsification 312, 315

Failure to file the correct financial statements (3) Roynet Plc. 56 1

within the specified period

Document and accounting falsification (4) Daidomon Group Plc. 312 3

in connection with the financial

statements for 2002 fiscal year, and

the first and second quarter of 2003

Failure to comply with the competent (5) Picnic Corporation Plc. and 303 3

officer’s order to appear before or send the (6) Finansa Credit Co., Ltd.

documents to competent officer

Records in 2005 also indicated a significant success

in law enforcement with an aim to maintain efficiency,

transparency, fairness and integrity of the capital

market.  The Criminal Court adjudged offenders in

the three following cases which were filed by public

attorneys following the complaints made by the SEC:

(1) Market manipulation of Thai Coating Industrial

Plc.: the Court sentenced Mr. Pichai

Methipreechakun to a two-year imprisonment and

a fine of 27,958,079.50 baht;

(2) Market manipulation of Thantawan Industry

Plc.: the Court sentenced Mr. Yang Lai Fu to

a one-year imprisonment and a fine of 500,000

baht; and

(3) A corporate fraud of executives of Thai

Cane Paper Plc.: the Court sentenced

Mr. Kitti Keeratimongkollert, Mr. Thaveekiat

Keeratimongkollert and Mr. Nuntachai

Keeratimongkollert to a 20-year imprisonment

with a five-year suspension of punishment.

{X5} Co., Ltd.

{X1} Plc.

{X6} Plc.

{X7} Co., Ltd.

{ A }

{B}

{C} {D}

{E}

{X1} Plc. and

{X7} Finance Co., Ltd.
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Summary of Criminal Proceedings under the SEC Act in 2005

                                   Types of Offenses No. of Criminal                    Settlement

Complaints No. of Cases Fine (baht)

Securities business

Breach of regulations:

-  Securities brokerage 9 2,952,787.50

-  Securities dealing

-  Custody of client assets 1 112,800.00

-  Financial requirement

-  Others 1

Unlicensed securities business 1

                                        Total 2 10 3,065,587.50

Asset management business

Breach of regulations:

-  Mutual fund management 18 2,895,712.50

-  Private fund management 1 115,800.00

-  Provident fund management

                                        Total 19 3,011,512.50

Unfair securities trading practices

-  False or misleading statement 1 500,000.00

-  Insider trading

-  Market manipulation 1 3,500,000.00

                                        Total 2 4,000,000.00

Issuance and offering of securities 1 13 3,081,006.25

Securities acquisition for business takeovers 4 2,125,000.00

Corporate frauds 1

Document and accounting falsification 2

Others 2

                                        Total 6 17 5,206,006.25

                               Grand Total 8 48 15,283,106.25

Notes: 1. Some cases consisted of more than one offense.

2. The data listed above does not reflect the number of subjected persons.
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“Pha Yok”: The clothes of court ladies for state ceremonies

This fine fabric of elegant look was the fashionable choice of garment

for state ceremonies among Siamese court ladies during the reign

of King Rama III. The two-piece apparel consists of Pha Yok,

the bottom garment below the waist, and Pha Tad, the upper garment

above the waist. The fabric is woven with pure gold and silver yarns.

This haute couture of the Siamese court is called Nung Yok Hom Tad.
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Market Development

Achievements

• Approved the SET’s and the TSD’s rules and

regulations on business expansion; inspected the

operation of Settrade

• Granted licenses of futures exchange and futures

clearing house; approved regulations governing

the supervision of the futures market

• Arranged trainings for supervisory officers to

ensure their readiness for futures business

• Restructured the bond market infrastructure;

consolidated bond trading platform under the

SET; amended regulations to facilitate the

expansion of  securitization business

In This Chapter

• Supervision and inspection of the SET and

related businesses

• Development of capital market infrastructure

What We Do

• Approve rules and regulations issued by the

SET

• Supervise the operation of the SET and its

subsidiaries

• Develop a variety of financial instruments in such

a way that maintains appropriate balance and

creates risk management alternatives

• Strengthen securities companies’ competitiveness

in preparation for future FTA

Supervision and Inspection of
the SET and Related
Businesses

The SEC implemented a number of preventive

measures to gain investors’ confidence in the capital

market particularly on the efficiency of the SET and

its subsidiaries. The SEC conducted a thorough

review on the operation of Settrade, an Internet

trading subsidiary of the SET, covering the following

areas: (1) Operations by way of the SEC’s approval,

(2) Business continuity and contingency plans,

(3) System of random share allocation on initial

public offering of securities, (4) IT system efficiency

and reliability, and (5) Protection of confidential

trading information. The overall results reasonably

confirmed the reliability of Settrade’s operating

system.

In addition, the SEC monitored the progress of

the TSD, another SET subsidiary, in converging

with the international standard practice of securities

clearing and settlement and in support of its growth

of service varieties by granting the following

business permissions:

(1) Provider of SBL services to facilitate the

expansion of SBL business;

(2) Provider of collateral collection and management

services for counterparty of repurchase

agreements;

(3) Provider of electronic subscription services for

initial public offering; and
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(4) Provider of back office services for bond and

derivatives products to reduce operational costs

of securities companies and derivatives market

participants. (Previously, the TSD provided back

office services for equity instruments only).

Development of Capital Market
Infrastructure

Bond Market

Market Restructuring

To accomplish the government’s goals of developing

the bond market into a significant source of fund

raising for public and private sectors and promoting

linkages of regional markets, the SEC recognized the

need for a more efficient market infrastructure to

support convenient trading systems and sufficient

information channels for investors. The SEC,

therefore, took the following actions:

1. Consolidation of bond trading platform under

the SET

The SEC viewed that the consolidation of the

negotiated e-trading platform for bond trading

under the SET was a logical step, given a bid/offer

matching system already conveniently put in place.

Two major constructive rational supporting

this initiative are: (1) the SET has appropriate

resources and infrastructure and (2) it will facilitate

the transformation of the Thai Bond Dealing

Center (ThaiBDC) into an efficient self-regulatory

organization under the name of the Thai Bond

Market Association (ThaiBMA).

2. Centralization of securities depository,

clearing and settlement services under the

TSD

The consolidation of the depository, clearing and

settlement services at the TSD will enhance the

efficiency of the bond market including the

accommodation of international linkage transactions.

The TSD, therefore, has become the center for

clearing and settlement of both government and

corporate bonds, previously handled by the BOT

and the TSD, respectively.

3. The ThaiBMA’s roles and responsibilities

To enhance market transparency and regulatory

efficiency, the SEC assigned major roles and

responsibilities to the ThaiBMA as follows:

1. Front-line market surveillance

2. Prescription of market convention and code of

conduct of members

3. Information center of  bond trading

4. Bond pricing agency

Starting January 1, 2006, the ThaiBMA membership

of bond dealers and inter-dealer brokers are

mandatory and all debt instruments offered to the

public must be registered with the ThaiBMA.
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Regulatory Progress on Securitization

To promote product varieties for a wider range of

investors, the SEC allowed issuers who are special

purpose vehicles (SPVs) under the securitization

scheme to offer bonds for sale to the public.

Besides, to further provide incentives for SPVs and

to avoid double taxation on their transaction, the

Revenue Department granted corporate income tax

exemption for the SPVs.

Futures Market

In light of the Derivatives Act. B.E. 2546 (2003),

which came into effect on January 6, 2004, the

government has implemented measures to promote

the futures market. The SET has been designated

as a key driver in establishing derivatives exchange.

On the regulatory function, the SEC granted

a derivatives exchange license to the TFEX, a

subsidiary of the SET, and a derivatives clearing

house license to the TCH, a subsidiary of the TSD,

in February 2005.

To prepare the local market for the newly introduced

futures business, the SEC arranged series of staff

training, workshops, seminars and field trips in both

local and foreign markets to acquire knowledge

and skills for the new business. The process also

facilitates the SEC consideration in drafting of

appropriate rules and regulations governing

derivatives businesses and complying with

internationally standards. In laying the groundwork

for the futures market, the SEC received generous

assistance and support from international regulators

such as the International Financial Corporation, the

HKSFC, the Chicago Board of Trade and the IOSCO.

As to the internal cooperation, the SEC worked

closely with the TFEX, the TCH and relevant parties

in the areas of supervisory frameworks and staff

qualifications to ensure market participants’ readiness

for the official launch of futures market in April 2006.

In addition, the SEC thoroughly reviewed trading

and operating systems of the TFEX, the TCH

and derivatives agents as well as provided training

sessions for relevant parties. The launched product

on the futures exchange is SET 50 Index Futures.
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Issuance of Supervisory Regulations

After licensing the TFEX and the TCH, the SEC

issued the following rules and regulations on futures

businesses and practitioners:

1. Regulation on the approval of derivatives dealers

and agents, specifying applicant requirements

of sound financial condition, appropriate

management and risk control systems and no

records of offenses;

2. Regulation and guidelines for the approval of

directors, management and operation of

derivatives business, specifying both required

and forbidden qualifications similarly to those

requirements under the securities business;

3. Regulation on the approval of the TFEX

and TCH memberships, specifying applicant

qualifications, membership procedures, rights

and responsibilities and membership fees; and

4. Regulation on the TCH asset administration,

requiring (1) segregation of member and client

assets from those of the TCH, (2) installation of

activity tracking system, and (3) verification of

member and client assets for accuracy and

completeness.

Licensing and Approval

In 2005, the SEC granted derivatives agent licenses

to 26 companies and registered two derivatives

agents and 18 derivatives dealers. As of December

31, 2005, the TFEX and the TCH accepted 20

members.
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Corporate Affairs

 Achievements
• Effective budget management

• Enhanced IT-based communication and

information services

• Launched a public survey on SEC proficiency and

corporate image

• Set up a system for staff proficiency enhancement

under the project, “Human Potential Leverage for

Organizational Capabilities”

In This Chapter

• Financial management

• Organizational and staff development

• Information technology upgrade

• SEC proficiency and corporate image survey

• Investor education and information services

What We Do

• Operate cost-effective budget to meet the

objectives of the SEC Strategic Plan

• Provide comprehensive and accessible

information and services to investors

• Organize educational activities for investors and

the public at large

• Strengthen staff ’s core and functional

competencies

Financial Management

The SEC manages its annual budget with care and

discretion to achieve the goals and objectives of its

strategic plan.

In 2005, the SEC earned the total revenues of

638.5 million baht. The fee income was 389.6

million baht, accounting for 61% of the total revenues

or an increase of 22.4 million baht from the previous

year. The revenue rise was due in large part to a

substantial growth in the mutual fund business,

issuance of corporate debentures and renewals

of financial advisor applications. Nevertheless,

the 2005 total revenues declined by 35 million baht

or a 5.19% decrease from that of 2004. This is due

to a 60.8 million baht decrease in returns from its

investment fund.

Revenue Comparisons 2004-2005
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Throughout 2005, the SEC managed its budget

prudently and allocated expenses cost-effectively to

meet the objectives of its action plan to improve

supervisory efficiency of the SEC and CG of market

participants. The total expenditure was 484.7 million

baht, lower than the approved budget by 105.2

million baht. In comparison with the expenditure of

the previous year, the 2005 figure was 6.09 percent

or 27.8 million baht higher due to the installation

of the Disaster Recovery Center, the IT-based

inspection system and the contribution to the “Let

Your Money Work Through Mutual Funds” project.

At the end of the year, the SEC achieved a surplus

of 153.9 million baht.

Organizational and Staff
Development

Manpower

As of December 31, 2005, the SEC employed 421

staff, comprising 91 executive officers and 330

permanent staff.

Staff Competency Development and

Training

The SEC organized a competency development

program, offering staff training in all areas of core

and functional competencies to support their daily

and upcoming supervisory tasks, including those

related to derivatives businesses.

The Human Potential Leverage for Organizational

Capabilities Project laid out groundwork for the SEC

staff proficiency development. Training sessions on

diverse functional skills of core competency took

place throughout the year, including thinking

process, teamwork techniques and management

skills with a special focus on new generation

leadership.

In addition, the SEC sponsored staff overseas

training programs, seminars, workshops and

educational trips in cooperation with fellow foreign

regulators including the Australian Securities

and Investments Commission (ASIC), the U.S.

Securities and Exchange Commission (U.S. SEC),

the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission

(CFTC), the UK Financial Services Authority

(FSA), the HKSFC, the MAS and the Securities

Commission, Malaysia (SC).

The overseas training helped to expand the staff’s

perspectives, knowledge and expertise for the

improvement of organizational operation and the

amendment of rules and regulations in compliance

with international standards.

Information Technology
Upgrade

In 2005, the SEC enhanced its information

technology system to support three major areas of

services as follows:

1. Internet-based communication and

information services

• Facilitated online submission of reports and

application forms such as public offering filing,

registration of listed company directors and

executives, investor contact applications, mutual

fund registrations and investment reports of all

types of funds. In addition, the SEC is developing

an e-payment system to complete its one-stop-

service system that will offer convenient online

activities, i.e., application filing, reporting,

information updates and fee payments.

• Installed an online system to support information

reporting of issuing companies including

securities offering, short-term debt instruments
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and warrants. The disclosure covers offering

volumes, redemptions, right exercising and

remaining volumes. The SEC also added a

web-based search engine for fast, efficient and

user-friendly services for investors.

2. IT-based surveillance and supervisory

system

The SEC has set up surveillance and warning

systems that detect and report irregular

securities trading or web board rumors and

developed an information pooling system to

facilitate report compiling, operational procedures

and decision-making. In addition, the internal

operation has become more environmental

friendly with the paperless functions of a new

workflow technology system that helps to

increase storage and sharing efficiency,

streamline procedural tasks and reduce paper

consumption.

3. Computer system infrastructure

A Disaster Recovery Center was set up to

facilitate staff’s mobility/off-site operation in case

of emergency.

SEC Proficiency and Corporate
Image Survey

The SEC launched a public survey on “Performance

Efficiency and Corporate Image” and engaged the

independent research and consultancy institute of

Thammasart University to conduct the project to

ensure impartiality and accurate representation.

Running from April to August 2005, the survey

rendered useful materials for mapping out guidelines

and directions for operational efficiency, market

supervision and CG of listed companies.

Research contents

• Performance satisfaction survey in seven areas:

(1) Operational efficiency on services provided

for organizations under supervision

(2) Regulatory efficiency in compliance with

international standards and practice and

understanding of business practices

(3) Strict and fair enforcement of rules and

regulations

(4) Providing of support for market and

product development

(5) Public services

(6) Transparency

(7) Promotion of good CG among listed

companies

• Corporate image survey in five areas:

(1) Organization

(2) Information disclosure

(3) Staff

(4) Executives

(5) Overall image

• Focus group research was conducted on 2,500

persons based upon two methodologies as

follows:

(1) Qualitative research: in-depth, face-to-face

interviews with top-level executives of the

organizations under the SEC’s supervision

and relevant market participants (100

persons); and

(2) Survey research: face-to-face questionnaire

distribution in Bangkok and vicinities (2,400

persons).
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• The focus groups consisted of the following

market participants: securities companies

(including commercial banks, insurance

companies and finance companies), asset

management companies, listed companies,

financial advisors, investment advisors, fund

supervisors, custodians, auditing firms, property

valuers, registered persons, institutional and

retail investors, investment unitholders and law

firms. Questionnaire responses also came from

the House of Representatives, senators, relevant

government agencies, the media, students and

the public.

Research results

• The overall results of the satisfaction survey on

the SEC performance was relatively higher than

the survey taken a few years earlier. The highest

score was in the area of CG promotion among

listed companies, followed by providing of

support for market and product development.

• The overall results of the corporate image survey

were satisfactory. The SEC appreciates the

survey results and would continue its efforts to

strengthen and focus on areas where potential

improvements exist. The highest score was

on the information disclosure, followed by

executive qualities.

Investor Education and
Information Services

Investor Education

From 2003 to 2005, the SEC in collaboration with

the Capital Market Development Fund Foundation,

the SET and the AIMC jointly operated the project,

“Let Your Money Work Through Mutual Funds.”

The aim was to expand investor base and yet
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promote institutional investors through mutual funds.

The project activities included television and radio

programs, publications, newspaper articles, seminars

and exhibitions.  These activities fostered

understanding of the public and investors on mutual

fund investment, risk acceptance parameters and

possible returns.

The SEC also published a pamphlet entitled

“Self-Preparation for Mutual Fund Investment,”

providing investors with essential facts and figures

about various types of mutual funds including fund

selection factors such as investment policy, relevant

expenses, return calculation and tax issues, etc.

Other channels of continual dissemination of

investment knowledge and information include

column/article contributions in magazines and

newspapers, printed media, lectures and event

participation, i.e., Money Expo 2005 (organized by

Financial and Banking Magazine) and the SET in the

City 2005. Such event opportunities provide direct

feedbacks from investors in such forms as inquiries,

comments and complaints. For foreign investors and

organizations, the SEC published “Capital Thailand,”

a quarterly newsletter in the English language, to

offer news updates and market movements in the

Thai capital market, especially progress on CG

practices.
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Capital Market Literacy

Public knowledge and understanding of the capital

market and investment are fundamental to the

continued development of the Thai capital market.

To ensure investment literacy of the next generations

of investors, the SEC organized educational sessions

for students, covering capital market backgrounds

and development, investment categories, roles and

responsibilities of market participants and other

essential facts. In 2005, the program accommodated

the total audience of 1,503 students from 17

educational institutions.

SEC Help Center

Launched in 2003, the SEC Help Center has become

a major channel of direct communication with

investors and a source of feedbacks and

suggestions that are taken into account for better

services to investors.

In 2005, the center received the total contacts of

1,660. Of this number, 755 were complaints, with 713

already finalized and the remaining in process. The

most common issues of complaints were IPO

subscription and allocation, share price manipulation

and malpractice/misconduct of securities business

personnel.

Investors can contact the SEC Help Center at

tel: (66) 2263-6000, fax: (66) 2256-7755, e-mail:

complain@sec.or.th or via website: www.sec.or.th

or mail complaints to or contact SEC staff at: The

Securities and Exchange Commission, 93/1 Diethelm

Towers B, 15th Floor, Wireless Road, Lumpini,

Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thailand.

SEC Website

The SEC updated the look and contents of its

website www.sec.or.th to offer modern, accessible

and user-friendly information search as well as

e-subscription services to keep investors posted on

up-to-date news and information on rules and

regulations, procedures and reports from securities

business operators and relevant organizations.

Online public hearing feature was added to the

website to ensure fast, convenient and transparent

procedures for gathering public opinions, feedbacks

and suggestions on issues of material impacts on

the capital market and investors, especially issuance

and amendment of rules and regulations. The

service is expected to encourage active participation

of relevant parties and reflect the SEC’s operational

transparency.
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In This Chapter

• IOSCO membership

• International roles and collaboration

• Enforcement cooperation and information

sharing

• Capital market developments in line with

international standards

What We Do

• Increase proactive roles and cooperation in the

international arena

• Support intra-regional linkages

• Boost market confidence on the Thai capital

market’s commitment to comply with international

standards

IOSCO APRC Chairmanship

In June 2005, Mr. Thirachai Phuvanatnaranubala, the

SEC Secretary General, was elected Chairman of

the IOSCO APRC in recognition of the SEC’s strong

potential for building the Thai capital market into a

robust investment forum under international

regulatory standards and for its continual efforts for

cross-market cooperation.

The IOSCO APRC comprise 21 member jurisdictions:

Australia, Bangladesh, Brunei, China, Hong Kong,

India, Indonesia, Japan, Korea, Kyrgyz Republic,

Malaysia, Mongolia, New Zealand, Pakistan, Papua

New Guinea, the Philippines, Singapore, Sri Lanka,

Taiwan, Thailand and Vietnam.

One of the SEC’s priorities as the IOSCO APRC

Chairman is to push forward the implementation of

the IOSCO strategic directions across regional

markets by urging members to raise their regulatory

standards in line with the IOSCO Objectives and

Principles. A specific move toward this goal is the

SEC’s campaign for IOSCO APRC member

signatories in the IOSCO MMoU concerning

consultation and cooperation and the exchange of

information. For members in need of financial

support to participate in the project and others under

the IOSCO principles, the SEC helps to seek

outside funding to support some of the project

expenditures.

In September 2005, the SEC hosted the IOSCO

APRC & APRC Enforcement Directors’ Meetings

under the theme, “Future Trends of Regional Capital

Markets.” The meetings accommodated diversified

discussions and information sharing among

delegates from the APRC member jurisdictions,

public and private organizations and financial experts.

International Relations

International Roles and
Achievements

IOSCO Membership

As an IOSCO ordinary member, the SEC is

committed to represent the needs of emerging

markets and the regional countries. This strategic

attempt helps to increase regional market presence

in the global arena in the development of

international rules and standards that is normally

dominated by regulators of developed market

countries. By getting actively involved in the

international regulatory development, Thailand has

become one of the first countries that can keep

abreast of the changing trends and directions of

rules and standards in the global capital market.

Such first-hand information is useful for the layout of

strategies to achieve suitable objectives for changing

global environment in a timely manner.
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Topics of discussions covered the emergence of

critical global trends in regional capital markets such

as regulatory internationalization, cross-border

products and services and regional competition.

These collective efforts were part of the region-wide

preparation for liberalization of trade and services

whereby market participants could map out

their strategic adjustments and sharpen their

understanding of the universal standard supervision.

Another SEC initiative was the Enforcement

Training School. Designed as an annual event for

the APRC members, the project kicked off in

November 2005 under the theme, “How to Fight

Corporate Frauds.” Regulatory officers from the

US SEC, the ASIC and the HKSFC were guest

lecturers who shared their experience and insights

with more than 60 audiences from the APRC

members and related governmental organizations.

IOSCO MMoU

The IOSCO MMoU signing is one of the IOSCO’s

strategic moves to encourage the APRC members

to fully commit to the IOSCO principles. To achieve

complete APRC signatories by January 2010, at a

group conference in Singapore in late 2004, the SEC

was appointed to lead a working group of four

regulators - the HKSFC, the CSRC, the ASIC and

the SEC - to encourage the APRC members to

become IOSCO MMoU signatories.

In February 2005, the SEC hosted the first working

group meeting and an IOSCO MMoU workshop to

promote a better understanding of the memorandum

and sharing of information and experience in search

of solutions to overcome signatory obstacles. The

event was attended by delegates from 12 APRC

members and five members of the Signatory

Screening Group, i.e., France, Germany, Turkey,

United Kingdom and the United States.

At the following meeting in September, a focus was

on outside funding for members in need of financial

assistance in this matter to which the World Bank

and the Asian Development Bank gave favorable

responses. The SEC filed an IOSCO MMoU

application this same month, starting off its official

commitment to solve obstacles to attain sufficient

legal power as required of IOSCO MMoU members.

International Roles and
Collaboration

ASEAN Capital Market Forum

As an outcome of the April 2004 ASEAN Finance

Ministers’ Meeting (AFMM), a forum for ASEAN

finance ministers and central banks to discuss policy

issues related to financial markets, the ASEAN

Capital Market Forum (ACMF) was established to do

the same with capital market issues of common

concerns.

The ACMF consists of 10 members, i.e., Brunei,

Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar,

the Philippines, Singapore, Vietnam and Thailand.

In April 2005, the AFMM forum in Laos announced a

resolution to incorporate the ACMF into its structure

and recognize the ACMF’s roles in studying and

proposing capital market policies for the AFMM’s

further consideration and implementation.
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The SEC has exercised its roles in the ACMF arena

by proposing and promoting initiatives that would

benefit both Thailand and the regional capital

market as a whole and, by so doing, gain good

rapport with the ASEAN peers. With the group’s

consensus, such initiatives are posed for convincing

arguments and strong support from the AFMM and

other international forums.

At the first meeting in Bangkok in June 2004,

the ACMF members agreed to accept mutual

recognition and harmonization of standards for

key areas, namely, (1) information disclosure,

(2) accounting and auditing, (3) comparability of

credit rating, (4) securities distribution rules, and

(5) cross-recognition of qualifications and

certification of capital market professionals.

Members were assigned to study separately

feasibilities and approaches for different issues. The

SEC volunteered to undertake the cross-recognition

of qualifications and certification of capital market

professionals project among ASEAN jurisdictions.

In November 2005, the SEC hosted the first working

group meeting in Bangkok. The attendance from

Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand

agreed in principle the possibility of cross-market

professionals and expected to further discuss related

issues of concerns at the next ACMF meetings.

Letter of Intent with Monetary Authority

of Singapore

In September 2005, the SEC signed an LOI with the

MAS, marking another bilateral cooperation with

fellow regional regulators.

The LOI underlines the regulators’ commitment to

explore mutual recognition initiatives to further

develop their respective capital markets. Specifically,

the LOI launched their mutual efforts to achieve the

following objectives:

(1) To establish convenient cross-border trading of

mutual funds;

(2) To accept cross-recognition of qualifications and

certification of securities professionals; and

(3) To explore cross-border trading linkages between

Singapore and Thailand.

The bilateral regulatory cooperation and recognition

not only stimulates cross-border trading of financial

products but also aligns supervisory standards, which

will lead to further cooperation and assistance in other

areas.

Free Trade Agreement in the Financial

Sector

In 2005, the SEC delegates participated in the

negotiations for Thai-U.S. FTA on behalf of the

Thai financial services sector. Facing inevitability

of financial sector liberalization, the SEC proposed

discreet, prudent approaches toward fair benefits

for the capital market and the Thai economy at large.

In formulating such approaches, the SEC took

into consideration issues of concerns, preparation

and readiness of securities business operators in the

local market.
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Enforcement Cooperation and
Information Sharing

The SEC recognizes the benefit of international

cooperation on local market development and places

a strategic focus on alliance with fellow regulators to

enhance supervisory efficiency and enforcement

through information sharing.

Undertaking Agreement with

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading

Commission

In August 2005, the SEC and the CFTC exchanged

an undertaking agreement for mutual assistance and

information exchange to (1) increase efficiency in

inspection and legal enforcement relating to futures

transactions, (2) strengthen investor protection, and

(3) prevent unfair futures activities and transactions.

Information Exchange

In 2005, the SEC accommodated 33 formal and

informal requests for information from foreign

regulators and other organizations to assist their

investigations of wrongful activities. Of the total

requests, 29 concerned unlicensed securities

business operations (boiler room/cold calling).

Meanwhile, the SEC received cooperative responses

for its 11 requests for informational assistance from

foreign counterparts.

Capital Market Developments in
line with International Standards

Asian Private Pensions Conference

In April 2005, the SEC, in cooperation with the

OECD and the IOPS, jointly hosted an international

conference on Private Pensions in Asia for more than

100 delegates from 28 countries. The attendance

comprised senior executives from government

agencies in charge of pension saving systems,

private sector representatives, experts from the

OECD member countries and Asia Pacific and

representatives from the World Bank and the Asian

Development Bank. The forum generated a pool

of diverse experience, insightful knowledge and

practical ideas for the supervision and management

of private pensions, with a special focus on progress

discussion for further development of the quality of

life and the stability of the economies.

Visitors

In 2005, the SEC hosted several visits to its office,

provided information on the Thai capital market and

arranged field trips to market professional premises

for visitors from foreign regulatory agencies such

as the CSRC, the Securities and Exchange

Commission - Sri Lanka and the Capital Markets and

Securities Authority - Tanzania.



“Pha Lai Yang Thep Phanom and Kin Non Rum”:
The fine arts on the fabric

This beautiful fabric is magnificently woven into eye-catching

delicate designs of mythical creatures of Himalayan forest such as

lion-kings, lions with elephant trunks, male angels and half-bird women

positioned in orderly patterns on soft blue sky background.

 This piece of cloth is not for wearing and used at court affairs only.
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Thailand’s Capital Market Overview

Equity Market 2005

In 2005, SET Index moved between 630-740 points with an average daily trading value of 16.45 billion baht

(Figure 1). The market was quite volatile due to a number of negative factors, including slowdowns in

household consumption and investment, higher inflation rates, upward trends of oil prices and interest rates,

droughts, avian influenza outbreaks, impact of tsunami, terrorist concerns in the south, and trade deficits in

the beginning of the year. Business performance was affected by the above unfavorable factors.

However, the SET index closed the year at 713.33 points, an increase of 6.83 points from 2004. Major sector

indices which declined or increased less than SET Index were finance, property, and communication sectors,

while those with better performances were energy and banking (Table 1).

Figure 1: SET Index and Trading Volume (Dec. 30, 2004 - Dec. 30, 2005)

Source:  SETSMART
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Table 1: SECTOR Indices and P/E

Dec. 30, 2004 Dec. 30, 2005 %YoY Dec. 30, 2004 Dec. 30, 2005 %YoY

SET 668.10 713.73 +6.83 9.40 9.40 0.00

PROP 118.39 111.37 -5.93 10.55 11.36 +7.68

FIN 1,332.93 1,124.72 -15.62 9.39 9.91 +5.54

BANK 235.77 264.31 +12.11 9.86 10.31 +4.56

ENERG 11,110.52 14,211.21 +27.91 10.00 8.16 -18.40

COMUN 106.18 106.29 +0.10 15.58 15.14 -2.82

Source: SETSMART

Trading by foreign and institutional investor groups in 2005 accounted for 28% and 10%, respectively

(Figure 2). Local investors were the net sellers of the Thai equity market. Foreign investors, on the contrary,

were the net buyers in every month except October in which foreigners made a net sale of nearly

27 billion baht due to lack of confidence in the economic and political situations. However, towards the end

of the year market confidence was regained after the Office of the National Economic and Social

Development Board had released positive figures of the Thai economy for the third quarter of 2005, induced

by a growth in export and tourism sectors, while imports were declining. Trade and current account balances

consequently showed a small surplus after having been in deficit in the first two quarters.

Figure 2: Turnover Volume of SET Classified by Investor Groups
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Equity Market Outlook 2006

The Thai equity market in 2006 is forecast to gain growth momentum following continuing economic

expansion. Exports are expected to grow strongly, particularly in the sectors of agricultural and food

products, electronics, automobiles and spareparts as a result of the FTA negotiations. The recovery of the

tourism sector will contribute to improvements in other service sectors, including hotels and travel agencies.

Household consumption is predicted to rise, as induced by higher employment and wage rates in the public

and private sectors and progressive problem resolving of household debts. Favorable factors contributing

directly to the SET listed companies include lower P/E ratio compared to that of other countries in the region.

In addition, the introduction of corporate tax reduction for new machinery and an increase of deductible

expenses from depreciation will enhance competitiveness of listed companies and at the same time

encourage more new listings. The factors forecast to have unfavorable effects on the Thai equity market are

the uncertainties of the government’s mega projects and privatization of state enterprises, the pressures of

high inflation rates and oil prices. Concerns over political instability and southern unrest may further affect

market sentiments.

Debt Securities Market in 2005

The Government Bond Clean Price Index moved upward during the first half of 2005. However,

during the second half, the index reversed downward and closed the year at 96.42 points, a decrease

of 5.53 points or 5.42% from 2004  (Figure 3). The Government Bond Yield Curve became flattened

toward the end of June as short-term government bond yields rose while those of medium- and long-term

declined (Figure 4). However, at the year end, the yield curve shifted upward showing an increase of

50-230 basis points compared to 2004. This resulted from the BOT’s 50-basis point raise of the 14-day

R/P in September 2005 beyond market expectations. This was to control increasing inflation rates which

reached 5.3% (YoY) in July. Having anticipated a further rise in interest rates, investors slowed down

their investments in long-term bonds and focused on short-term ones.
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The average daily trading value of debt securities in 2005 was 15.9 billion baht, an increase of 31% from

the previous year of 12.1 billion baht.  Inter-dealer transactions1 accounted for 23% while dealer-to-client

transactions were 77%.  Among dealer-to-client transactions, non-dealer financial institutions accounted for

10% while contractual saving funds, mutual funds and insurance companies together accounted for 50% of

the dealer-to-client trading value (Figure 5).

Figure 5: Composition of Market Participation in Thai Bond Market* in 2005

Source: ThaiBMA

Figure 3: Government Bond Index and Trading

Value Dec. 30, 2004 - Dec. 30, 2005

Figure 4: Government Bond Yield Curve
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At the end of 2005, the outstanding value of registered debt securities was 1,976.8 billion baht with

the proportions of government and corporate debt securities of 90% and 10%, respectively (Figure 6).

The BOT bonds issued essentially for liquidity absorption in the money market accounted for the major part of

the government debt securities with the value of 961.8 billion baht. The value of government bonds issued

domestically was 188.9 billion baht. Of this, 16 billion baht was saving bonds offered to retail investors and

non-profit organizations.

The total offering value of corporate bonds by 62 companies in the primary market was 207 billion baht,

an increase of 61% from the previous year.  Of this, 10.3 billion baht was issued by DAD SPV Co., Ltd.

It was the country’s largest-ever securitized bonds issued in four tranches backed by 30-year future rental

revenues from the new government office. This is the first publicly offered securitized securities.

In addition, the Asian Development Bank and the Japan Bank of International Cooperation were allowed

to issue Baht-denominated bonds in Thailand with the total value of 7 billion baht.  This marked the first two

Baht bonds issued in the Thai bond market by foreign entities.

Figure 6: Gross Issuance Value of Debt Securities in Domestic Market Classified by Types of

Securities (2001 - 2005)

Sources: BOT and SEC

Debt Securities Market Outlook in 2006
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Statistical Highlights

Securities Offerings Classified by Types

million baht

                     Types of Offerings 2003 2004 2005 p

Equities1/ 133,047 99,946 84,827

Domestic 133,047 99,946 84,827

Initial public offerings2/ 21,032 37,671 21,967

Public offerings 67,674 28,325 19,915

Directors and employees 1,940 1,572 1,745

Private placements 42,401 32,378 41,200

Overseas 0 0 0

Corporate debentures3/ 197,441 144,798 253,017

Thai juristic persons 197,441 144,692 245,089

Domestic 197,441 128,416 199,050

Public offerings 89,160 92,895 137,621

Institutions 61,860 23,500 51,398

Private placements 46,422 12,021 10,031

Overseas 0 16,276 46,040

Foreign juristic persons 0 106 7,928

Domestic 0 106 7,928

Public offerings 0 106 7,928

Commercial papers4/ n.a. 162,907 666,100

Domestic n.a. 162,907 666,100

Public offerings/institutions n.a. 146,243 646,223

Private placements n.a. 16,664 19,876

                                    Total 330,489 407,651 1,003,944

Notes: 1/ Including warrants on common shares and preferred shares
2/ Including securities offering to directors and employees concurrent with initial public offering
3/ Excluding state enterprise bonds
4/ Only commercial papers issued with the purpose of fund raising

p = Preliminary data
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( ) X 100

Turnover Value of SET Classified by Investor Groups

million baht

2003 2004 2005

Net buying value1/

Local institutional investors 19,573 3,089 -51,325

Local non-institutional investors 5,036 -8,702 -67,217

Foreign investors -24,609 5,612 118,542

Buying and selling value2/ 9,340,563 10,048,799 8,062,480

Local institutional investors 575,417 846,053 839,492

Local non-institutional investors 7,099,129 7,081,516 4,974,362

Foreign investors 1,666,016 2,121,230 2,248,626

Percentage of buying and selling value (%)3/ 100.00 100.00 100.00

Local institutional investors 6.16 8.42 10.41

Local non-institutional investors 76.00 70.47 61.70

Foreign investors 17.84 21.11 27.89

Source: SET

Notes: 1/ Net buying value  = buying value - selling value
2/ Buying and selling value = buying value + selling value
3/ Percentage of buying and selling value   =

Government Debt Securities Offerings Classified by Types of Securities

million baht

                           Types of Securities 2003 2004 2005 p

Domestic 752,355 1,217,049 1,769,786

Government bonds 107,500 271,488 188,900

Treasury bills 348,990 528,000 474,000

Promissory notes 20,000 41,000 20,000

State enterprises bonds1/ 55,645 59,197 98,640

BOT bonds and FIDF bonds 219,470 317,340 961,846

Specialized organization bonds2/ 750 24 26,400

Overseas 155,363 94,058 85,255

Government bonds and commercial papers 155,363 94,058 79,489

State enterprises bonds1/ 0 0 5,766

                                      Total 907,718 1,311,107 1,855,041

Source: BOT

Notes: 1/ Excluding bonds issued by state enterprises that are public companies
2/ Comprising Property Loan Management Organization (PLMO), Asset Management Organization (AMC), Secondary Mortgage

Corporation (SMC), and Energy Fund Administration Institute (EFAI)

p = Preliminary data

buying value + selling value

total market buying and selling value
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( )Trading value

average outstanding value

Statistical Highlights of Thai Bond Market

2003 2004 2005

Government Bond Clean Price Index1/ 104.53 101.95 96.42

Average government bond yield (%)1/ 4.26 4.51 5.37

Investment Grade Corp. Bond Clean Price Index1/ 103.39 103.03 99.60

Average investment grade corp. bond yield (%)1/ 4.42 4.74 6.08

Total trading value (million baht) 2,606,640 2,969,469 3,884,753

Government debt securities 2,392,452 2,855,063 3,794,984

Corporate debt securities 214,188 114,406 89,375

Foreign bonds - - 394

Daily average rrading value (million baht) 10,553 12,120 15,856

Turnover ratio (%)2/ 147.25 138.20 140.45

Government debt securities 165.97 161.54 163.40

Corporate debt securities 65.14 30.01 20.48

Foreign bonds - - 5.63

Outstanding value of registered securities (million baht)1/ 1,895,077 2,402,257 3,122,739

Government debt securities 1,517,818 2,016,978 2,628,119

Corporate debt securities 377,259 385,279 487,621

Foreign bonds - - 7,000

Number of registered securities1/ 586 628 733

Government debt securities 441 460 513

Corporate debt securities 145 168 218

Foreign bonds - - 2

Percentage of trading value (%) 100.00 100.00 100.00

Inter-dealers 26.47 24.02 22.58

Dealers-to-clients 73.53 75.98 77.42

Non-dealer licenses 21.62 14.48 7.93

Contractual saving funds 12.44 12.47 10.52

Mutual funds 19.93 19.24 24.76

Insurance companies 4.98 3.18 2.84

Others 14.55 26.61 31.37

Source: ThaiBMA

Notes: 1/ At the end of period
2/ Turnover Ratio    =                                                              X 100

turnover value

average market capitalization
( )

Statistical Highlights of the Stock Exchange of Thailand

2003 2004 2005

SET Index1/ 772.15 668.10 713.73

Total turnover (million baht) 4,670,281 5,024,399 4,031,240

Daily average turnover (million baht) 18,908 20,508 16,454

Turnover ratio2/ (%) 137.85 107.92 83.75

Market capitalization (million baht)1/ 4,789,857 4,521,895 5,105,113

Number of listed companies1/ 408 440 468

Number of listed securities1/ 505 541 576

P/E ratio (times)1/ 13.65 9.40 9.40

P/BV ratio (times)1/ 2.71 2.00 1.91

Dividend yield (%)1/ 1.81 2.75 3.37

Source: SET

Note   1/ At the end of period          2/ Turnover ratio  =                                                            x 100
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General funds 333 472,091 430 509,015 594 789,371

Local investment funds 328 468,350 425 503,784 561 757,710

- Local funds 314 436,464 411 479,747 551 743,731

Open-end funds 297 294,398 383 327,750 491 547,432

(1) Equity funds 94 78,115 126 74,185 141 76,510

General 89 69,512 87 55,950 86 47,972

Special 5 8,603 39 18,235 55 28,538

(2) Fixed income funds3/ 92 92,837 112 109,963 222 356,880

General 59 66,863 57 83,348 85 199,487

Special 33 25,974 55 26,615 137 157,393

(3) Mixed funds4/ 110 123,386 144 143,541 128 114,042

General 43 36,650 107 86,277 43 30,550

Special 67 86,735 37 57,264 85 83,492

(4) Funds of funds 1 60 1 62 0 0

Closed-end funds 17 142,066 28 151,997 60 196,299

(1) Equity funds 4 4,436 5 3,807 4 1,190

General 3 3,398 4 3,783 0 0

Special 1 1,038 1 25 4 1,190

(2) Fixed income funds3/ 0 0 9 5,920 39 24,007

General 0 0 0 0 3 3,657

Special 0 0 9 5,920 36 20,350

(3) Mixed funds4/ 10 134,800 12 140,291 9 151,947

General 4 129,963 3 132,650 3 143,568

Special 6 4,837 9 7,641 6 8,379

(4) Funds of funds 1 965 0 0 0 0

(5) Property funds for public

(Type I fund) 2 1,865 2 1,979 8 19,155

Specified 1 1,004 1 966 6 17,544

Non-specified 1 861 1 1,013 2 1,610

- Country funds 14 31,886 14 24,037 10 13,979

Open-end funds 6 7,426 6 5,538 5 2,672

(1) Equity funds 4 4,792 4 2,663 3 421

(2) Fixed income funds3/ 1 2,434 1 2,601 1 1,905

(3) Mixed funds4/ 1 201 1 274 1 347

Closed-end funds 8 24,460 8 18,499 5 11,307

(1) Equity funds 8 24,460 8 18,499 5 11,307

Number of Mutual Funds and Net Asset Value1/ Classified by Investment Policies

                  Investment Policies2/        2003     2004      2005

Number NAV Number NAV Number NAV

of Funds million baht of Funds million baht of Funds million baht
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                  Investment Policies2/        2003     2004      2005

Number NAV Number NAV Number NAV

of Funds million baht of Funds million baht of Funds million baht

Foreign investment funds 5 3,741 5 5,232 33 31,662

- Local funds 5 3,741 5 5,232 33 31,662

Open-end funds 5 3,741 5 5,232 31 30,416

(1) Equity funds 1 832 1 1,936 6 4,865

(2) Fixed Income funds 3/ 1 1,330 1 915 8 9,182

(3) Mixed funds 4/ 0 0 0 0 12 9,683

(4) Funds of funds 3 1,578 3 2,381 5 6,686

Closed-end funds 0 0 0 0 2 1,246

(1) Fixed income funds 3/ 0 0 0 0 2 1,246

Special funds 99 255,123 94 173,608 87 174,435

Closed-end funds 99 255,123 94 173,608 87 174,435

(1) Property Fund for Resolving Financial

Institutions Problems (Type II Fund) 28 46,735 27 43,549 24 45,992

(2) Mutual Fund for Resolving Financial

Institutions Problems (Type III Fund) 16 140,866 13 41,301 12 24,361

(3) Properties and Loans Funds

(Type IV Fund) 55 67,522 54 88,758 51 104,082

                          Total 432 727,214 524 682,623 681 963,806

Notes: 1/ Excluding mutual funds being liquidated and Thai Trust Funds
2/ Types of funds are classified in accordance with the notification of the SEC Office No. SorNor. 23/2547
3/ Including fixed-income funds, short-term fixed-income funds, and money market funds
4/ Including balanced funds and flexible portfolio funds
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Financial Statements

Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Office of the Auditor General of Thailand

(Unofficial Translation)
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To the Minister of Finance

The Office the Auditor General of Thailand (OAG) has audited the balance sheets as of December 31, 2005

and 2004, the statement of revenues and expenses, and the statement of cash flows for each year then

ended of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand (SEC). These financial statements are the

responsibility of the SEC’s management as to their correctness and completeness of the presentation. The

responsibility of the OAG is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on its audits.

The OAG conducted the audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards

require that the OAG plans and performs the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the SEC’s management as well as evaluating

the overall financial statement presentation. The OAG that the audits provide a reasonable basis for the

opinion.

In the opinion, the aforementioned financial statements present fairly in all material respects, the SEC’s

financial position as at December 31, 2005 and 2004 as well as the results and cash flows for each year then

ended, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

(Mrs. Watcharee  Siriprasert)

Director of Audit Office

 (Ms. Sirikul  Jandee)

 Auditor In-charge

Office of the Auditor General of Thailand

March 17, 2005

Report of Auditors
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Notes 2005 2004

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 29,883,928.92 32,501,468.62

Short-term investments 4,7 2,613,040,169.01 2,554,539,149.10

Advances 1,579,874.42 2,273,299.68

Accrued revenues 5 138,893,973.24 129,115,555.93

Other current assets 1,407,617.38 1,538,913.25

Total current assets 2,784,805,562.97 2,719,968,386.58

Non-current assets

Loans to employees 10,159,488.85 10,051,990.35

Long-term investments 6,7 631,434,085.17 399,984,138.30

Property, premises, and equipment - net 8 42,601,711.65 40,913,380.15

Intangible assets 9 12,970,905.91 14,286,178.45

Other assets 5,931,610.24 8,294,741.08

Total non-current assets 703,097,801.82 473,530,428.33

Total assets 3,487,903,364.79 3,193,498,814.91

Assets

unit: baht

Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004
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(Mr. Thirachai  Phuvanatnaranubala) (Mr. Saengsiri  Sirisansneeyawongse)

Secretary-General Director, Finance and Administration Department

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Current liabilites

Accounts payable 22,383,579.99 43,431,404.62

Unearned revenue 10 12,925,000.00 21,175,000.00

Payable - The Revenue Department 10,769,438.50 3,384,199.58

Other current liabilities 9,793,300.08 14,725,590.49

Total current liabilities 55,871,318.57 82,716,194.69

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 11 10,501,655.50 10,501,655.50

Other liabilities 315,589.88 178,038.25

Total non-current liabilities 10,817,245.38 10,679,693.75

Total liabilities 66,688,563.95 93,395,888.44

Capital market development fund 12 823,719,917.71 659,296,014.99

Funds

Initial Fund 1,250,532,337.10 1,250,532,337.10

Capital surplus from contribution 1,090,700.00 1,090,700.00

Reserve for a permanent office building 13 336,100,931.46 237,847,729.10

General reserve 14 829,578,968.51 704,578,968.51

Revenues over expenses 172,603,125.46 223,253,202.36

Unrealized gain 15 7,588,820.60 23,503,974.41

Total funds 2,597,494,883.13 2,440,806,911.48

Total liabilities and funds 3,487,903,364.79 3,193,498,814.91

Notes 2005 2004Liabilities and funds

unit: baht

Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Revenues

Fee income 389,612,190.39 367,195,081.19

Information service income 1,072,547.42 346,622.52

Interest income 278,974.27 580,229.46

Investment income 16 93,091,694.04 153,903,883.41

Contribution from the SET 150,000,000.00 150,000,000.00

Other income 4,471,571.91 1,467,145.66

Total revenues 638,526,978.03 673,492,962.24

Expenses

Human resources expenses 348,505,679.35 347,434,649.38

Administrative expenses 113,434,638.98 98,946,558.66

The SEC and sub-committees remuneration 3,983,534.24 3,858,551.84

Total expenses 465,923,852.57 450,239,759.88

Revenues over expenses - net 172,603,125.46 223,253,202.36

Notes 2005 2004

Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND EXPENSES

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

unit: baht
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Cash flow from operating activities

Revenues over expenses - net 172,603,125.46 223,253,202.36

Adjustments to reconcile revenues over (under) expenses to

net cash from (used in) operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 20,796,924.51 23,266,148.07

Gain from sales of assets (3,130,464.24) (793,369.94)

Amortization of bond premium (discount) 13,980.13 (4,252.60)

Accrued revenues increase (9,778,417.31)  (103,388,567.08)

Accrued expenses increase (decrease) (4,217,211.87) 4,772,044.30

Prepaid expenses decrease 8,072.23 1,434,127.12

Unearned revenues decrease (8,250,000.00)  (22,575,000.00)

Earnings from operating activities before changing in

operating assets and liabilities 168,046,008.91 125,964,332.23

Operating assets (increase) decrease

Advances 693,425.26  (125,429.56)

Accounts receivable - others  221,245.97 (83,394.11)

Accounts receivable - employees  6,914.81  (5,213.94)

Loans to employees (107,498.50) (4,493,779.35)

Accounts receivable - suspense 24,125.69 89,119.81

Suspended input VAT  (129,062.83)  (123,501.79)

Accounts receivable - contract deposit 2,363,130.84 (91,000.00)

Operating liabilities increase (decrease)

Accounts payable - general  (21,047,824.63) 17,605,773.53

Accounts payable - employees (10,000.00) 10,000.00

VAT relevance payable 6,482,536.88 (2,348,561.90)

Withholding tax payable 902,702.04 (6,175,693.05)

Returned advances (705,078.54) 139,917.64

Accounts payable - contract deposit 137,551.63 49,714.25

Net cash from operating activities 156,878,177.53 130,412,283.76

2005 2004

unit: baht

Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Cash flow from investing activities

Fixed deposit - employee benefits decrease  14,987,560.44 11,889,784.56

Investment in private fund increase (43,434,744.93) (174,405,682.76)

Fixed deposit decrease 50,000,000.00 360,000,000.00

Promissory notes (increase) decrease 680,000,000.00 (215,000,000.00)

Treasury bills increase  (185,175,172.57) (123,750,811.60)

Bonds increase (822,257,743.66)  (89,193,471.30)

Leasehold improvement increase (893,688.91) (189,230.00)

Furniture and fixtures increase (729,039.00)  (325,321.80)

Office equipment increase (12,491,282.50)  (11,020,294.37)

Vehicles increase  (4,146,000.00) (14,489,801.87)

Software license fee increase (2,978,892.00)  (361,763.00)

Income from disposal of assets  3,199,383.18 840,000.00

Net cash from investing activities (323,919,619.95)  (256,006,592.14)

Cash flow from financing activities

Capital Market Development Fund increase 164,423,902.72 81,081,989.12

Net cash from financing activities 164,423,902.72 81,081,989.12

Net cash and cash equivalents (decrease) (2,617,539.70)  (44,512,319.26)

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 1 32,501,468.62 77,013,787.88

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31 29,883,928.92 32,501,468.62

2005 2004

unit: baht

Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004
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1. General information
The SEC was established on May 16, 1992 under the SEC Act B.E. 2535 (SEC Act). Its responsibilities

are to supervise and develop the Thai capital market in the following areas:

- Issuances and public offering of securities

- Securities businesses and related businesses

- Securities exchange, over-the-counter center, and institutions related to securities businesses

- Acquisition of securities for business take-overs

- Prevention of unfair securities trading practices

The SEC is located on the 10th and 13th-16th Fl. Diethelm Towers B, 93/1 Wireless Road, Lumpini, Patumwan,

Bangkok 10330, Thailand.

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the SEC has 421 and 375 employees respectively.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Accounting policies used in preparing financial statements

The SEC’s financial statements have been prepared in compliance with the accounting standards of

the Federation of Accounting Professions under the Accounting Act B.E. 2543. The financial statements are

stated at cost on an accrual basis except stated otherwise.

2.2 Alteration of accounting policies

Any alteration which has significantly effect is noted to the related transaction.

2.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are cash in hand, bank deposits, and check in transit.  They are stated at

cost in the balance sheet.

2.4 Accrued revenues are stated as net realizable value.

2.5 Investments

The SEC has stated its investments, both debt and equity instruments, in accordance with the Thai

Accounting Standards No. 40.

2.5.1 Short-term investment is independently managed by the selected private fund managers to

invest in marketable securities in both debt and equity instruments which are classified as

available for sale in the balance sheet, and measured at fair value. The fair value of marketable

securities is based on the latest bid price on the Stock Exchange of Thailand (SET) of the

last working day of the period as quoted. Changes in the book value of the available-for-sale

securities are recognized as unrealized gain or loss and presented as a separate item

under the fund in the balance sheet.

2.5.2 Long-term investment in debt instruments, expected to be held to maturity, are presented at

amortized cost.

2.5.3 For disposal of investments, the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying

amount will be booked in the statements of revenues and expenses.

Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004



104 Annual Report 2005

2.6 Property, premises, and equipment

Property, premises, and equipment are stated at historical cost after accumulated depreciation.

Depreciation is allocated by the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvement 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Office equipment 5 years

Vehicles and equipment 5 years

Gain or loss on disposal of property, premises, and equipment is based on book value and

presented in other income or other expense.

Subsequent expenditure on property, premises, and equipment which significantly increase the present

replacement cost will be added to the original costs.  Expenditure on repair and maintenance is recognized as

expense in the period in which it is incurred.

2.7 Intangible assets

Intangible assets (i.e. computer system development expenses and licensed software fee that

provide future economic benefits for more than one year) are stated at cost after amortization. Cost of

intangible assets comprises purchase price and other expenses relating to the preparation for such assets

render for use. Amortization is allocated by the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as

follows:

Licensed software fee 10 years

System development  5 years

2.8 Employee benefits

The SEC has registered its two provident funds, namely “Registered Provident Fund of the

Securities and Exchange Commission” and “Registered Provident Fund of the Office of the Securities and

Exchange Commission (2)” since August 9, 1993 and November 1, 2003, respectively. The SEC and the

employees who are members of the provident fund have agreement to make contributions to the provident

fund.  Proportion of contribution from employees, which are subtracted from their salary base individually, is

ranged from 3% minimum to 10% maximum while that from the SEC is 10% of salary base of individual

employee.  The provident funds have been managed by investment professional and registered under the

Provident fund Act B.E. 2530. Contribution from the SEC is stated as expense in the statement of

revenues and expenses in each accounting period.

2.9 Revenue recognition

Major revenues of the SEC and revenue recognition are as follows:

2.9.1 Fee income

- Application fee: Revenue is recognized when application form and fee are received by

the SEC.

- Registration fee: Revenue is recognized when registration statement and/or completed

related documents or information are received by the SEC. Annual fee from an issuing

company is recognized as revenue, in accordance with the criteria specified by the SEC,

in the accounting year after the year that the registration statement has become effective.

- License fees for undertaking securities businesses (brokerage, underwriting, dealing, and

investment advisory) are classified as revenue to the Capital Market Development Fund.

License fees for undertaking other securities businesses are recognized in line with the

SEC’s rules on fee payment.

- Other fees: Revenue is recognized when request form and fee are received by the SEC.
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2.9.2 Contribution from the SET

Under the SEC Act, the SET shall contribute for the purpose of facilitating the operation of the

SEC at the rate specified by the SEC. Revenue is recognized on an accrual basis.

2.9.3 Investment income or other income

- Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis, except when there is an uncertainty in

the receipt of the income.

- Dividend income is recognized when declared.

- Other income is recognized when declared.

2.10 Financial instruments

To diversify investment risk, the SEC has a policy to invest at least 60% in low-risk financial

instruments and 40% in high-risk financial instruments. Of the whole investment portion, 50% is managed

by the SEC to invest in low-risk financial instruments while the other half is managed by the selected private

fund managers with investment policies as follows:

- Invest 80% of fund or less in high-risk financial instruments.

- Invest 20% of fund or more in low-risk financial instruments.

3. Cash and cash equivalents
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Cash and petty cash 0.06 0.06

Bank deposit (including check in transit) 29.82 32.44

Total 29.88 32.50

4. Short-term investments
4.1 Short-term investments

unit: million baht

2005 2004

Current and saving deposits 68.60 50.02

Fixed deposits (due date within 1 year) 116.79 236.77

Suspense account - marketable securities pending for transfer 20.85 96.62

Bonds (due date within 1 year) 679.99 89.20

Treasury bills (due date within 1 year) 308.93 123.75

CDs and PNs (due date within 1 year)  - 680.00

Investments in debt and equity instruments 1,410.97 1,271.91

   (from private fund investment)

Accrued interest and dividend 6.91 6.27

   (from private fund investment)

Total 2,613.04 2,554.54
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4.2 Investments in debt and equity instruments

4.2.1 Available-for-sale securities

unit: million baht

2005 2004

Book Value Market Value Book Value Market Value

:  Debt instruments 829.78 820.15 770.94 768.22

:  Equity instruments 573.60 590.82 477.47 503.69

1,403.38 1,410.97 1,248.41 1,271.91

:  Accrued interest from debt instruments 6.31 - 5.13 -

:  Accrued interest and dividend

from equity instruments - - 0.15 -

4.2.2 Held-to-maturity debt instruments 988.91 892.94

5. Accrued revenues
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Interest income

-  Fixed deposits - 1.07

-  State enterprise bonds 1.91 1.91

-  Government bonds 6.06 6.07

-  Fixed deposits with Government Housing Bank 0.34 0.42

-  Promissory notes  - 2.98

-  Treasury bills 1.30 0.23

-  Bank of Thailand Bonds 13.41  -

Income from license fees for

-  Undertaking other types of securities businesses 115.70 116.28

-  Annual disclosure fee 0.06 0.06

Others 0.11 0.10

Total 138.89 129.12

6. Long-term investments
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Held-to-maturity debt instruments

-  Bank of Thailand bonds 231.44  -

-  State enterprise bonds 99.99 99.98

-  Government bonds 300.00 300.00

Total 631.43 399.98
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7. Debt instruments
unit: million baht

   2005 Total 2004

   Time to Maturity

1 Year 2 - 5 Years 6 - 10 Years

Available-for-sale securities 820.15 - - 820.15 768.22

Held-to-maturity debt instruments

 - 2000 Expressway and Rapid Transit

Authority of Thailand Bond - 99.99 - 99.99 99.98

 - 2002 Government Savings Bond - - 300.00 300.00 300.00

 - 2004 Bank of Thailand Bonds 679.99 231.44 - 911.43 89.20

 - Treasury bills 308.93 - - 308.93 123.75

 - Promissory notes issued by TISCO Finance Plc.  - - - - 205.00

 - Promissory notes issued by Kiatnakin Finance Plc. - - - - 310.00

 - Promissory notes issued by Siam Industrial Credit

Plc. - - - - 140.00

 - Promissory notes issued by National Finance Plc. - - - - 25.00

Total 1,809.07 331.43 300.00 2,440.50 2,061.15

8.  Property, premises, and equipment - net
unit: million baht

As of Increase Decrease As of

Dec. 31, 2004 Dec. 31, 2005

Property, premises, and equipment (cost)

Leasehold improvement 29.97 0.89 - 30.86

Furniture and fixtures 22.78 0.73 (0.89) 22.62

Office equipment 97.88 12.49 (4.12) 106.25

Vehicles and parts 48.08 4.15 (14.56) 37.67

Total property, premises, and equipment 198.71 18.26 (19.57) 197.40

Less Accumulated depreciation

Leasehold improvement  (28.36) (0.88) - (29.24)

Furniture and fixtures (21.15) (0.85) 0.87 (21.13)

Office equipment (80.20) (8.30) 4.08 (84.42)

Vehicles and parts (28.09) (6.47) 14.55 (20.01)

Total accumulated depreciation  (157.80) (16.50) 19.50 (154.80)

   Total property, premises, and equipment - net 40.91 1.76 (0.07) 42.60

Depreciation 16.59 16.50
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9.  Intangible assets
unit: million baht

As of Increase Decrease As of

Dec. 31, 2004 Dec. 31, 2005

Intangible assets

Licensed software 19.80 2.98 - 22.78

System development 14.21 -  - 14.21

Total 34.01 2.98 - 36.99

Less Amortization

 Licensed software (7.12) (2.69) - (9.81)

 System development (12.61) (1.60) - (14.21)

Total amortization (19.73) (4.29) - (24.02)

Total intangible assets - net 14.28 (1.31) - 12.97

10. Unearned revenues
unit: million baht

    2005 2004

License fees for

-  Undertaking other types of securities businesses  - 0.30

-  Undertaking securities dealing or underwriting business for debt instruments 12.00 20.00

-  Undertaking securities financing business 0.50 0.50

-  Undertaking venture capital business 0.05 0.05

-  Securities registrar business 0.20 0.15

-  Undertaking investment advisory service business 0.03 0.03

-  Undertaking inter-dealer broker business 0.05 0.05

-  Association related to asset management businesses 0.05 0.05

-  Association related to securities businesses 0.05 0.05

Total 12.93 21.18

11. Provisions
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Estimated cost for dismantling and removing 10.50 10.50

The estimated cost of dismantling and removing the sites for the 10th floor and the 13th-16th floor in the

amount of 10.50 million baht is based on the estimation made by Diethelm Co., Ltd.  In 2001, the company had

estimated the cost of dismantling and removing the sites for the 10th floor and the 14th-16th floor in the amount

of 8.40 million baht and in 2002, an additional estimated cost of 2.10 million baht was added for the 13th floor.

12. Capital market development fund
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Beginning balance 659.30 578.21

Add Income from license fees for undertaking securities 166.97 81.12

businesses and from interest income

Total 826.27 659.33

LessExpenses for supporting projects and others (2.55) (0.03)

Ending balance 823.72 659.30
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13. Reserve for a permanent office building
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Beginning balance 237.85 173.78

Add Reserve 98.25 64.07

Ending balance 336.10 237.85

This reserve is in accordance with the criteria approved by the SEC at the Meeting 9/1996 on November

14, 1996.

14. General reserve
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Beginning balance 704.58 579.58

Add Reserve 125.00 125.00

Ending balance 829.58 704.58

This reserve is in accordance with the criteria approved by the SEC at the Meeting 9/1996 on November

14, 1996.

15. Unrealized gain from investments
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Beginning balance 23.50 178.55

Changes during accounting period (15.91) (155.05)

Ending balance 7.59 23.50

Unrealized gain from investments in the amount of 7.59 million baht is resulted from the difference

between book value and fair value of investments in the portion of fund managed by the private fund manager.

(See details in Note 2.5 Investments)

16. Investment income
unit: million baht

2005 2004

Income from investment in fund managed by private fund manager

-  Interest income 29.54 25.26

-  Dividend income 10.97 16.67

-  Gain from disposal of investments  25.10 106.32

Total 65.61 148.25

Income from direct investment  54.45 46.77

Total 120.06 195.02

Less Returns on investment under Capital Market Development Fund (26.97) (41.12)

Total 93.09 153.90
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To consider the appeal of persons who are not satisfied with the decisions or orders of the SEC or the SEC

Office under the SEC Act.

Comprise:

1.  Mr. Kovit  Poshyananda Chairman

2.  Mr. Sommai  Phasee Committee Member

3.  Mr. Suphachai  Phisitvanich Committee Member

4.  Mr. Somchai  Richupan Committee Member

5.  Khun Pornthip  Jala Committee Member

6.  Prof. Kesree  Narongdej Committee Member

Appellate Committee
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Sub-committees

Sub-committee on Consideration of Guidelines for Supervising Debt
Instrument Market and Electronic Trading Platform

Objective:

To consider and advise the SEC on supervising debt instrument market and persons providing electronic

trading platform as well as to determine requirements for issuance of license to person wishing to provide

such service.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Vasant Thienhom Chairman

2. Representative from SET Sub-committee

3. Representative from ThaiBMA Sub-committee

(2 persons of which one is representative of dealers)

4. Representative from ASCO Sub-committee

5. Representative from AIMC Sub-committee

6. Director, Research Dept., SEC Sub-committee and Secretary

Appointed on May 1, 2003 and term from February 4, 2003 to February 3, 2005.

Sub-committee on Consideration of Draft Notifications Concerning Issuance
and Offering of Equity Instruments

Objective:

To consider draft notifications concerning issuance and offering of equity instruments and other securities

which are not considered by any sub-committees.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Prasong Vinaiphat* Chairman

2. Representative from SET Sub-committee

3. Representative from Listed Companies Association Sub-committee

4. Representative from ASCO Sub-committee

(Investment Banking Club)

5. Representative from Thai Investors Association Sub-committee

6. Mrs. Pataraporn Milinthasut Sub-committee

7. Director, Corporate Governance Dept., SEC** Sub-committee and Secretary

Appointed on March 4, 2004 and serving term from February 15, 2004 to February 14, 2006.

* Appointed on April 1, 2005 in succeeding to Mr. Viroj Nualkhair who resigned on February 16, 2005.

** Appointed on April 1, 2005 in succeeding to Director, Corporate Finance Depart., SEC.

Sub-committee on Consideration of Draft Notifications Concerning Issuance
and Offering of Debt Instruments

Objective:

To consider draft notifications concerning issuance and offering of debt instruments.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Prasong Vinaiphat Chairman

2. Representative from ThaiBMA Sub-committee
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3. Representative from Government Pension Fund Sub-committee

4. Representative from Thai Banks’ Association Sub-committee

5. Representative from Foreign Banks’ Association Sub-committee

6. Representative from Listed Companies Association Sub-committee

7. Director, Research Dept., SEC* Sub-committee and Secretary

Appointed on March 4, 2004 and serving term from February 15, 2004 to February 14, 2006.

* Appointed on April 1, 2005 in succeeding to Director, Corporate Finance Dept., SEC.

Sub-committee on Consideration of Draft Notifications Concerning Issuance
and Offering of Derivatives

Objective:

To consider draft notifications concerning issuance and offering of derivatives.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Prasong Vinaiphat Chairman

2. Representative from SET Sub-committee

3. Representative from ASCO Companies Sub-committee

(Investment Banking Club)

4. Representative from ASCO Sub-committee

5. Representative from Thai Banks’ Association Sub-committee

6. Representative from Foreign Banks’ Association Sub-committee

7. Director, Research Dept., SEC* Sub-committee and Secretary

Appointed on March 4, 2004 and serving term from February 15, 2004 to February 14, 2006.

* Appointed on April 1, 2005 in succeeding to Director, Corporate Finance Dept., SEC.

Sub-committee on Consideration of Draft Notifications Concerning Debt
Instrument

Objective:

To consider draft notifications concerning debt instrument which are not considered by any sub-committees.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Prasong Vinaiphat Chairman

2. Managing Director Sub-committee

Thai Bond Market Association

3. Chief Executive Officer Sub-committee

Bond Electronic Exchange, SET

4. Mr. Pakorn  Peetathawatchai Sub-committee

5. Mr. Treekwan  Boonnak Sub-committee

6. Representative from AIMC Sub-committee

7. Director, Research Dept., SEC Sub-committee and Secretary

Appointed on May 16, 2005 and serving term from April 1, 2005 to March 31, 2007.

Sub-committee on Consideration of Notifications Concerning Business Take-overs

Objective:

To consider and amend notifications concerning business take-overs and other related regulations.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Prasong Vinaiphat Chairman

2. Representative from SET Sub-committee
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3. Representative from Investment Banking Club Sub-committee

4. Mr. Tithiphan Chuerboonchai Sub-committee

5. Mrs. Pataraporn Milinthasut* Sub-committee

6. Mr. Weerawong Chittmittrapap Sub-committee

7. Director, Corporate Governance Dept., SEC** Sub-committee and Secretary

Appointed on July 21, 2004 and serving term from June 1, 2004 to May 31, 2006.

*Appointed on June 10, 2005 in succeeding to Mr. Korn Chatikavanij who resigned on March 21, 2005.

** Appointed on June 10, 2005 in succeeding to Director, Corporate Finance Dept., SEC.

Sub-committee on Takeover (Takeover Panel)

Objective:

To consider and make decision on the waiving and ordering regarding tender offer, tender offer price, and any

matters essential for protection of investors as well as to advise the SEC on tender offer.

Comprise:

Category 1:  Chairman of Takeover Panel

1. Mr. Panas Simasathien

2. Mr. Sompol Kiatphaibool

3. Mr. Vasant Thienhom

Category 2:  Financial experts as Sub-committee

1. Mrs. Kanitha Subpa-Asa

2. Mr. Tanate Phutrakul

3. Dr. Varapol Socatiyanurak

4. Mr. Veravat Chutichetpong

5. Professor Dr. Anya Khanthavit

Category 3:  Legal experts as Sub-committee

1. Mrs. Kulkanist Khamsirivatchara

2. Mr. Charin Satchayan

3. Mr. Thanathip Pichedvanichok

4. Mr. Somboon Kitiyansub

5. Mr. Surasak Vajasit

Category 4:  Representative from SEC as Sub-committee and Secretary

1. Director, Corporate Governance Dept.*

2. Director, Legal Dept.

Appointed on December 22, 2004 and serving term from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2006.

* Appointed on April 1, 2005 in succeeding to Director, Corporate Finance Dept., SEC.

Sub-committee on Consideration of Draft Notifications on Supervision of
Securities Businesses

Objective:

To consider draft notifications concerning securities business supervision which are not considered by any

sub-committees.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Vasant Thienhom* Chairman

2. Representative from SET Sub-committee

3. Representatives from ASCO Sub-committee

4. Representatives from Thai Investors Association Sub-committee

5. Representative from AIMC Sub-committee

6. Representative from Securities Analysts Association Sub-committee
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7. Director, Investment Advisor Supervision Dept. or Sub-committee and Secretary

    Director, Broker-Dealer Supervision Dept., SEC

Appointed on December 22, 2004 and serving term from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2006.

* Appointed on March 1, 2005 in succeeding to Mr. Viroj Nualkhair who resigned on February 16, 2005.

Sub-committee on Consideration of Draft Notifications Concerning Investment
Management Business

Objective:

To consider and advise on draft notifications concerning criteria, conditions and procedures for establishment

and management of mutual fund, and management of private fund including any other related notifications,

but excluding rules relating to investment units salespersons and private fund representatives.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Sompol Kiatphaibool Chairman

2. Representative from AIMC Sub-committee

3. Representative from Mutual Fund Supervisors Sub-committee

4. Representative from Thai Investors Association Sub-committee

    or Representative from AOP

    (if the meeting concerns provident fund)

5. Ms. Suvabha Charoenying Sub-committee

    or Dr. Pornanong Boosratrakoon

    (if the meeting concerns investment derivatives mutual fund and private fund)

    or Mrs. Jittaporn Sriboonjit

    (if the meeting concerns property fund)

6. Mr. Siriwat Voravetvuthikun Sub-committee

7. Director, Investment Management Supervision Dept., SEC Sub-committee and Secretary

Appointed on December 22, 2004 and serving term from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2006.

Legal Sub-committee

Objective:

To consider and advise the SEC on criminal proceedings against offenders under the SEC Act and other laws

as well as consider other legal issues relating to law enforcement and legal proceedings.

Comprise:

1. Mr. Prasit Kovilaikool Chairman

2. Khun Pornthip Jala Sub-committee

    Secretary-General, Office of the Council of State

3. Pol. Gen. Sombat Amornviwat Sub-committee

    Director-General, Department of Special Investigation

4. Pol. Gen. Amnuey Peshsiri Sub-committee

    Deputy Commissioner-General,

    Office of the Commissioner-General, Royal Thai Police

5. Mr. Chaikasem Nitisiri Sub-committee

    Deputy Attorney General, Office of the Attorney General

6. Mr. Prasong Vinaiphat Sub-committee

    Deputy Secretary General, SEC

7. Mr. Arkabusk Krairiksh Sub-committee

    Senior Director Litigation Group, BOT

Appointed on December 22, 2004 and serving term from December 22, 2004 to December 21, 2005.
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List of qualified persons who act as arbitrators in arbitration procedure to settle the dispute between the

aggrieved clients and securities business intermediaries for the breach of contract or non-compliance with

securities law or provident fund law.

Comprise:

1. Assoc. Prof. Gasinee  Witoonchart

2. Mr. Tawat  Ananthothai

3. Asst. Prof. Tithiphan  Chuerboonchai

4. Mr. Burin  Kantabutra

5. Asst. Prof. Dr. Patcharavalai  Jayapani

6. Mr. Punlop  Pisitsungkakarn

7. Assoc. Prof. Phijaisakdi  Horayangkura

8. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Paiboon  Sareewiwatthana

9. Dr. Maruey  Phadoongsidhi

10. Prof. Dr. Warapatr  Todhanakasem

11. Assoc. Prof. Wai  Chamornmarn

12. Assoc. Prof Dr. Somjai  Phagaphasvivat

13. Mr. Athueck  Asvanund

14. Assoc. Prof. Dr. Anan  Chantara-Opakorn

Arbitrators
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Acronyms & Abbreviations

ABF2 Asian Bond Fund 2

ACMF ASEAN Capital Market Forum

AFMM ASEAN Finance Ministers’ Meeting

AIMC Association of Investment Management Companies

AOP Association of Provident Fund

ASCO Association of Securities Companies

ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission

BEX Bond Electronic Exchange

BOT Bank of Thailand

CFO chief financial officer

CFTC U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission

CG corporate governance

CG-ROSC Corporate Governance - Report on the Observance of Standards and Codes

CSRC China Securities Regulatory Commission

DSI Department of Special Investigation, Ministry of Justice

EMEAP Executives’ Meeting of East Asia and Pacific Central Banks

FAP Federation of Accounting Professions

FC fund committee

FeTCO Federation of Capital Market Organizations

FSAP Financial Sector Assessment Program

FTA free trade agreement

GDP gross domestic product

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IMF International Monetary Fund

IOD Thai Institute of Directors Association

IOPS International Organisation of Pension Supervisors

IOSCO International Organization of Securities Commissions

IOSCO APRC IOSCO Asia-Pacific Regional Committee

IOSCO MMoU IOSCO Multilateral Memorandum of Understanding Concerning Consultation

and Cooperation and the Exchange of Information

IPO initial public offering

IT information technology

HKSFC Securities and Futures Commission, Hong Kong

LBDU limited brokerage, dealing, and underwriting license

LOI Letter of Intent

mai Market for Alternative Investment

MAS Monetary Authority of Singapore

MOU Memorandum of Understanding

NAV net asset value

NCGC National Corporate Governance Committee

OAG Office of the Auditor General of Thailand

OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

PO public offering

RBA risk based approach

Repo repurchase agreement

SAQ self-assessment questionnaire

SBL securities borrowing and lending

SEC Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

SEC Act Securities and Exchange Act B.E. 2535 (1992)

SEC Office Office of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Thailand

SET Stock Exchange of Thailand

Settrade Settrade.com Co., Ltd.

SRO self-regulatory organization

ThaiBMA Thai Bond Market Association

TCH Thailand Clearing House Co., Ltd.

TFEX Thailand Futures Exchange Plc.

TSD Thailand Securities Depository Co., Ltd.

TSI Thailand Securities Institute

Type II Fund Property Funds for Resolving Financial Institutions Problems

Type III Fund Mutual Funds for Resolving Financial Institutions Problems

Type IV Fund Properties and Loans Fund

US GAAP United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principle

U.S. SEC U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
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